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At THQ, we’re establishing alliances with many of the biggest players in the 
entertainment game. And like all strong alliances, these are relationships built 
on trust and our proven track record of nurturing and protecting our partners’ 
brands. As a result, Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo—the first property under our 
multi-year, multi-property license agreement with famed studios Disney and Pixar—
was successfully launched in May 2003. A genuine crowd pleaser in more than 40
territories around the globe, Finding Nemo has achieved worldwide shipments in
excess of five million units!  And THQ’s relationship with Disney and Pixar continues,
with video games based on a Walt Disney Pictures presentation of a Pixar Animation
Studios film, The Incredibles, scheduled to launch concurrently with the film’s world-
wide release later this year. Disney and Pixar—two very good friends of ours that
complement THQ’s strength as a premier publisher.

PREDICTABLE
HITS



INDUSTRY LEADING
FRANCHISES

Becoming a crowd favorite—means developing your own dynamic style. To stand out
from the competition, you’ve got to exhibit strength, speed and endurance. To win,
you’ve got to face the opposition head-on or face elimination. At THQ, we are winning,
taking on all comers as we’ve taken our World Wrestling Entertainment video 
games to an even greater level of quality in fiscal 2004. Leading the charge for THQ,
WWE™ SmackDown!™ Here Comes the Pain™ for PlayStation® 2 achieved the highest
quality ratings in franchise history—winning the hearts of consumers with with nearly
two million units shipped around the world!  Total WWE™ video game shipments on
all platforms surpassed three million units worldwide in fiscal 2004. And as we bring
the WWE™ to each console again in 2004, we expect to benefit even more from 
the increasing number of mass-market consumers who are playing video games 
as console prices become more affordable. THQ joining forces with WWE™ and
JAKKS Pacific—it’s a signature move that has generated more than a half a 
billion dollars in revenues for THQ since we acquired the license in 1999, making this
brand one of the most successful franchises ever in the industry.
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PREMIER BRANDS
SUPERIOR QUALITY
To have complete mastery of this game, you need to know when to take the 
next step and when to make that giant leap forward. Which is why at THQ, we 
made the leap—bringing console development of SpongeBob SquarePants™: Battle for
Bikini Bottom in-house to our Heavy Iron Studios®. As one of the most popular
Nickelodeon characters ever developed—and certainly the most popular to live in a
pineapple under the sea—SpongeBob SquarePants™ has become a hugely successful
game franchise for THQ, having shipped more than six million units life-to-date, and
more than three million units in fiscal 2004 alone!  And since Heavy Iron Studios 
has taken control of the action, the franchise has earned its highest quality ratings 
ever. Currently, Heavy Iron Studios is in development on our next SpongeBob
SquarePants™ game—The SpongeBob SquarePants™ Movie—scheduled to launch 
concurrently with the upcoming SpongeBob SquarePants™ film later this year.
With our strong brands and world class development, we are taking control 
of the action.



NEW THINKING
RESULTS IN NEW I.P.
Negotiating the complex world of electronic game publishing can be a daunting task.
To advance, you’ve got to know how and when to move—strategically. Which is why
at THQ, we’re always thinking ahead—positioning ourselves for long-term growth
through some of the smartest industry moves of the year, including the launch of our
newest franchise, Tak and the Power of Juju. Representing the very first of its kind
intellectual property, Tak was developed in conjunction with Nickelodeon with the
expressed intent of migrating the brand from the video game space into television
and other media. In fiscal 2004, THQ shipped more than one million copies of Tak
and the Power of Juju. In Fall 2004, we’ll launch the sequel, Tak 2:The Staff of Dreams.
But that’s not all we’ve thought of—as we’ve also pulled the trigger on a hot 
new slate of original properties, while continuing to forge ahead with our multi-year,
multi-property license partnerships that have scored record results for THQ in fiscal
2004. Just a few more—we think—very smart moves.



06:07T H Q  : 2 0 0 4  : A N N UA L  R E P O RT



HANDHELD
LEADERSHIP

THQ continues to lead the handheld category as our many family brands translate
ideally to the handheld market—achieving for THQ (according to the NPD Group)
the #1independent handheld publisher ranking once again in 2003! In addition, we’ve
partnered with many leading companies to publish their own brands, such as Sega’s
Sonic Advance 2, which went on to become one of the best-selling handheld titles of
fiscal 2004. For fiscal 2005,THQ will go on to publish Sega’s Sonic Advance 3, also for
Game Boy® Advance. Finally, in an effort to reach an older demographic, Sony and
Nintendo will both introduce new handheld devices by 2005—and THQ, leveraging its
handheld expertise to the Sony PSP and the Nintendo DS, will offer new games 
targeted to this older audience.



THE INCREDIBLES

NICKTOONS

SCOOBY-DOOTM: Mystery Mayham
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SONIC ADVANCE 3

TM

The Incredibles © Disney/Pixar

SCOOBY-DOO and all related characters and elements are trademarks of and © Hanna-Barbera.
WBIE LOGO: TM & © Warner Bros. Entertainment Inc.

NEW GAMES



Through THQ Wireless™Inc., a subsidiary of THQ, our global distribution, unique
technologies and well-known brands keep us at the center of this incredibly fast-
growing industry. THQ Wireless’ global distribution has been expanded into new
markets in Europe and Asia. Unique technologies power that distribution through
dedicated and partner websites such as Madtap.com, supporting THQ Wireless’
game platform server for hosting multiplayer games across multiple networks. And
then, of course, there are games, entertainment and information services under
development at THQ Wireless, including products based on major sports brands such
as the NFL and NHL. THQ Wireless also holds a controlling interest in one of the
largest SMS service providers—MINICK—expanding our spectrum of applications to
enable marketing campaigns such as in-broadcast voting from mobile phones during
live televised shows and events. And that’s how THQ is establishing a leadership 
position in the emerging wireless space!

WIRELESS
LEADERSHIP
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SPONGEBOB
SQUAREPANTS™

HELLO KITTY®

MotoGP 2

NEW GAMES



It’s not just fun and games anymore. The advanced gamer out there is demanding a
whole new style of play—titles that capture both the escalating stakes of today’s world
as well as the action and excitement of tomorrow’s. To that end and to increase 
our market share on PlayStation® 2, Xbox® and the PC in fiscal 2005, THQ will be 
publishing some of the most promising new properties in our history—including a
cache of smart new weapons such as Full Spectrum Warrior™ and S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow
of Chernobyl.

SETTING OUR
SIGHTS ON THE

FUTURE



Developed for the U.S. Army as an actual training aid to reinforce Army doctrine,
Full Spectrum Warrior hit the ground running as the most realistic portrayal of urban
warfare utilizing tactical action game-play. It has garnered extremely high praise,
including “Best of E3” awards two years running and a perfect “5 out of 5” from
Gamepro.com, a leading gaming site.

Full Spectrum Warrior™



Boasting some of the most advanced technology and graphics ever delivered in a PC
game, S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow of Chernobyl brings the foreboding post-nuclear disaster
zone to life in the year 2012. Developed by GSC Gameworld in Kiev and powered by its
highly acclaimed and proprietary X-Ray engine, this game provides a cornerstone to
THQ's high-end PC strategy in fiscal 2005.

S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow of Chernobyl



Based on the hugely popular Marvel comic book series and developed by THQ’s
Volition, Inc.®, The Punisher™ draws you deeper and deeper into a complex world of
highly interactive environments that set this game apart. The Punisher™ is set for
release on PlayStation® 2 and Xbox® in 2005.

The Punisher™



In April 2004, THQ acquired acclaimed PC Real-Time-Strategy (RTS) developer,
Relic® Entertainment, creaters of Warhammer 40,000: Dawn of War. Reinventing the
genre, Warhammer 40,000: Dawn of War delivers the most visceral, frontline combat
ever experienced in an RTS game—earning it a coveted spot in PC Gamer’s Top 10
Games of 2004 as well its April 2004 cover!

Warhammer® 40,000: Dawn of War™



Developed by Pandemic Studios, creators of Full Spectrum Warrior™, Destroy All
Humans!™ is a third-person action adventure game with fully-open design. As the alien,
players are on a mission to infiltrate and destroy humanity, using such powers as 
hypnosis, mind reading and body snatching. The game received strong critical praise at
E3 2004 and is scheduled for PlayStation® 2 and Xbox® in 2005.

Destroy All Humans!™



THQ delivered on our goals in fiscal 2004. We outperformed the video game software market with 37% revenue growth
over the prior twelve months. We were one of only two U.S. video game software publishers to gain market share 
in calendar 2003, according to The NPD Group, a leading independent market information provider. We achieved the 
#2 independent video game software publisher ranking for all of 2003, with a 6.6% market share, and maintained the #2
position for the first four months of 2004, according to NPD.

THQ reported record revenues of $641 million in fiscal 2004. We also grew net income to $35.8 million, or $0.92
per diluted share, compared with $2.5 million, or $0.06 per diluted share in the prior twelve months. We posted a 
7.6% operating margin, up sharply from 2.6% in the prior twelve months. We generated operating cash flow in excess of 
$71 million, further strengthening our already rock solid balance sheet. At March 31, 2004, we had $277 million in cash and
investments, or $7.10 per diluted share, with no debt.

We successfully improved product quality across the board and achieved the best game quality ratings in THQ’s history.
We also significantly enhanced our internal development studio organization to rival that of any publisher, with 17 teams
across eight studios. With leading franchises, a strong balance sheet and world-class studio operations, we are well positioned
to be a leader through the remainder of the current console cycle and into the next generation of hardware.

CREATING BLOCKBUSTER FRANCHISES
THQ continued to capitalize on our strength of appealing to the mass-market video game consumer with four titles

posting sales in excess of one million units in fiscal 2004: Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo, SpongeBob SquarePants™: Battle for Bikini
Bottom™, WWE SmackDown!™: Here Comes The Pain™ and Tak and the Power of Juju. Products based on each of these brands
will return as key drivers of THQ’s fiscal 2005 results.

Worldwide shipments of the first property in our long-term partnership with Disney and Pixar, Disney/Pixar’s Finding
Nemo, have now exceeded five million units. We are excited about launching games on all platforms based on the next Walt
Disney Pictures presentation of a Pixar Animation Studios film, The Incredibles, as the movie releases around the globe this
holiday season.

Titles based on one of our most enduring franchises, World Wrestling Entertainment™, shipped more than three million
units worldwide, reflecting the highest game quality ratings for the WWE™ SmackDown!™ PlayStation® 2 series in THQ history.
In fiscal 2005, we will publish distinct WWE™ games on each console as well as Game Boy® Advance.

Video games based on the SpongeBob SquarePants™ franchise continue to be top sellers for THQ. In fiscal 2004, we
shipped more than three million units of games based on this brand. We are pleased to be launching new titles based on The
SpongeBob SquarePants™Movie this holiday season.

In addition, one of the most rewarding achievements for THQ last year was the successful launch of a new original 
property, Tak and the Power of Juju, created in collaboration with our partner Nickelodeon. This “game-first” launch 
underscores the creativity and strength of our partnership with Nickelodeon and adds a million-plus unit franchise to THQ’s
portfolio. We look forward to releasing Tak 2: The Staff of Dreams this fall, which will be supported by a comprehensive 
marketing spend by both THQ and Nickelodeon.

We are also extremely pleased with the performance of MX Unleashed, which was developed internally by our Rainbow
Studios™ and ranked in the top-ten best selling titles on PlayStation® 2 and Xbox® in its first two months of sales, according
to NPD. Capitalizing on this success, we are already working on a sequel for fiscal 2005.

PREDICTABLE HITS, HIGH-PROFILE NEW PROPERTIES
Building on our successful portfolio strategy, we again expect to derive approximately two-thirds of our revenues from

proven franchises in the coming fiscal year. Many of these brands will help us maintain our leadership in the family and 
handheld markets, as the mass-market segment of the video game market continues to expand. Each of our best-selling
brands of fiscal 2004 will return this fiscal year.

In addition to these outstanding franchises, THQ’s mass-market lineup in fiscal 2005 will include games based on popular
Nickelodeon titles The Fairly OddParents, Jimmy Neutron and Nicktoons and Warner Bros.’ holiday movie Polar Express.

TO OUR
SHAREHOLDERS
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Building on this foundation of solid brands, we plan to launch some of the most exciting new titles in the industry:
Full Spectrum Warrior™; S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow of Chernobyl; Warhammer® 40,000: Dawn of War™; Destroy All Humans!™ and 
The Punisher™. Our product quality and innovation have achieved industry recognition. At the 2004 Electronic Entertainment
Expo, the largest tradeshow for the video game industry, Warhammer® 40,000: Dawn of War™, Destroy All Humans!™ and Full
Spectrum Warrior™ were each nominated for The Game Critics Best of E3 Awards.

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES 
THQ is well positioned to leverage our key properties for the mass-market consumer across the significant installed

base of current generation of video game hardware. We are also preparing to establish a leadership position on the next
generation of video game hardware. We expect new consoles from Microsoft, Nintendo and Sony by 2006, as well as new
handheld devices from Nintendo and Sony by early 2005, and we intend to be aggressive in developing new products for
these platforms.

We are focused on six key strategic initiatives:

1. Increasing our market share on PlayStation® 2, Xbox® and personal computers (PC), particularly 
in the core gamer segment;

2. Maintaining our leadership in the handheld and family markets, and leveraging our expertise to the new 
Sony and Nintendo handheld devices;

3. Continuing to build our internal development organization with a view toward even higher product quality 
and next generation console leadership;

4. Becoming the market leader in wireless entertainment;
5. Expanding our global presence; and
6. Improving our operating margins and overall profitability.

Core areas of investment to support these goals include new content acquisition, expanding our product development
staff by 50%, continuing with innovative global marketing programs, and expanding our wireless content, distribution and 
technology operations.

Developing new original content and owning studios with proven technology leadership are core components of THQ’s
long-term growth strategy. To that end, in April 2004, we acquired Relic® Entertainment Inc., a leader in the real-time 
strategy genre. Relic is already working on our critically acclaimed Warhammer® 40,000: Dawn of War™ product as well as
future PC and next-generation console development. We will continue to evaluate additional opportunities to build our
internal development capabilities, both through acquisition and internal growth.

THQ boasts one of the most innovative marketing organizations in the industry. In fiscal 2004, we implemented a global
brand management strategy, which included the extremely successful launch of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo in more than 
40 territories worldwide. In fiscal 2005, we plan to build on this global brand focus to increase our international market
share. We broke new ground in the industry with the successful establishment of our new original property Tak and the Power
of Juju in collaboration with Nickelodeon. No other video game publisher and media company have collaborated to create
and market a new brand in the video game space first with the intent to leverage that property into television and movies.

We are increasingly excited about the growth prospects in wireless entertainment and have therefore ramped 
up our investment in our subsidiary, THQ Wireless™ Inc. THQ Wireless’ strategy is to provide a comprehensive wireless 
entertainment solution, including games, ring tones, wallpapers, messaging and information services. We expect THQ
Wireless’ revenues to double in fiscal 2005. In addition, our May 2004 acquisition of a controlling interest in MINICK expands
THQ Wireless’ spectrum of applications to include one of the largest Short-Messaging-Service providers in the world.

I’d like to commend THQ’s employees across our global organization for their superb execution of our strategic 
objectives in fiscal 2004. We have built some of the best franchises in the entertainment software business today. With our
leadership in mass-market brands and handheld gaming, our growing share of the core gamer market, our expanding 
internal studio operations and our growing PC and wireless businesses, THQ is one of the strongest and best positioned
publishers in the industry.

In closing, I’d like to thank our stockholders and directors for their support over the past fiscal year as we began to 
realize the fruits of our product development and global brand management initiatives. I'd also like to offer a special thank
you to Greg Ballard who's retiring from our board after several years of dedicated service. While we have doubled the size
of THQ in three years, we feel that in some ways, we are just getting started. We’ve made solid investments in THQ’s future
and are well positioned to post another record year in fiscal 2005.

Brian J. Farrell
President and Chief Executive Officer
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS*

OPERATING RESULTS
12 Months Ended March 31, 3 Months Years Ended December 31,

Transition
(in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Unaudited

Net sales $ 640,846 $ 467,647 $ 66,800 $ 480,529 $ 378,992 $ 347,003 $ 303,483

Net income (loss) $ 35,839(a) $ 2,543 $ (7,686)(b) $ 12,994(c) $ 36,013 $ 18,189(d) $ 31,326

Earnings per diluted share $ 0.92 $ 0.06 $ (0.20) $ 0.32 $ 1.01 $ 0.56 $ 0.99

Diluted shares 39,004 40,552 $ 38,319 41,243 35,623 32,352 31,796

FINANCIAL POSITION
March 31, 3 Months December 31,

Transition
(in thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Unaudited

Working capital $ 309,633 $ 286,899 $ 286,899 $ 320,588 $ 319,605 $ 110,269 $ 91,860

Total assets $ 527,151 $ 472,949 $ 472,949 $ 537,860 $ 487,966 $ 229,942 $ 184,057

Total liabilities $ 88,559 $ 76,536 $ 76,536 $ 128,994 $ 89,104 $ 97,817 $ 75,751

Stockholders’ equity $ 438,592 $ 396,413 $ 396,413 $ 408,866 $ 398,862 $ 132,125 $ 108,306

*Effective January 1, 2003,THQ’s fiscal year end was changed from December 31 to March 31. This change resulted in a three-month transitional reporting period ended March 31, 2003.
References to Transition 2003 (or ‘03) refer to the three-month transitional period ended March 31, 2003. Since the change in fiscal year end affects the comparability of the information
reflected in Financial Highlights, we have included unaudited results for the twelve month period from April 1, 2002 through March 31, 2003.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(a) Includes a $4.0 million benefit for a settlement of dispute with directors’ and officers’ insurance carrier.
(b) Includes a charge of $1.8 million related to the other than temporary impairment of our investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd.
(c) Includes a charge of $7.9 million, net of tax, for the cancellation of 20 SKUs as well as a charge of $4.6 million, net of tax, related to the settlement of a class action lawsuit and a 

charge of $1.1 million, net of tax, related to the write-off of inventory and software development for “WWF”-branded games, and a charge of $2.8 million, net of tax, related to the 
discontinuation of our online joint venture in the United Kingdom (Network Interactive Sports, Ltd.).

(d) Includes a charge of $5.9 million, net of tax, related to a regular impaired asset review and also as a result of changing technology in the video game market.The charge consisted of
costs associated with software development and related costs for products that had been discontinued or whose values were deemed unrecoverable through future undiscounted cash flows.

04 03 02 01 00 99 04 03 02 01 00 99

NET SALES
$  M I L L I O N

$640,846

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
$  M I L L I O N

$438,592

12 months 
ended 03/31/03 

(unaudited)

As of 03/31/03 
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This Annual Report contains, or incorporates by reference, certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform

Act of 1995. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding industry prospects and future results of operations or 

financial position, made in this Report are forward-looking.We use words such as “anticipate”,“believe”,“expect”,“intend”,“estimate”,“may”,“could”,“project”,

“potential”, “plan”, “forecast”, “future” and similar expressions to help identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to 

business and economic risk and reflect management’s current expectations, estimates and projections about our business and are inherently uncertain and 

difficult to predict. Our actual results could differ materially.The forward-looking statements contained herein speak only as of the date on which they were

made, and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report.

Risks and uncertainties that may affect our future results include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors”.

FOR MORE COMPLETE FINANCIAL INFORMATION, PLEASE REFER TO OUR ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM

10-K AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

You may request a copy of this report, as well as our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, including the

financial statements and the financial statement schedules, at no cost to you, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

Julie MacMedan

Director of Investor Relations

THQ Inc.

Tel:(818) 871-5095

Email: investor@thq.com

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS



INTRODUCTION

THQ Inc. (“THQ” or the “Company”) is a leading global developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software that is playable on the following platforms1:

• Home video game consoles such as Sony PlayStation and Sony PlayStation 2, Microsoft Xbox, and Nintendo GameCube;

• Handheld platforms such as Nintendo Game Boy Advance;

• Personal computers; and

• Wireless devices.

Our titles span most major interactive entertainment software genres, including action, adventure, children’s, driving, fighting, puzzle, role-playing,

simulation, sports and strategy.

Our software is based on intellectual property licensed or assigned from third parties or created internally. We continually seek to identify and develop

titles based on content from other entertainment media (such as movies and television programs), sports and entertainment personalities, popular sports

and trends or concepts that have high public visibility or recognition or that reflect the trends of popular culture. Our portfolio of licensed properties

includes the Disney/Pixar properties: Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo; The Incredibles, which is expected to be released this holiday season; and Cars,

which is expected to be released during the 2005 holiday season; Nickelodeon properties such as The Fairly OddParents and SpongeBob SquarePants; Hot

Wheels; Power Rangers; Scooby-Doo; Sonic the Hedgehog; World Wrestling Entertainment; as well as others.

We also develop software based on brands created by our eight internal development studios and by external developers under contract with us. Our

original brands include Destroy All Humans!™, Full Spectrum Warrior™, MX Unleashed, Splashdown®: Rides Gone Wild, S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow of Chernobyl,

and Tak and the Power of Juju (co-created with Nickelodeon). Other than games that we release on PCs, the manufacturers1 or their authorized vendors

manufacture all of our products for us.

We market and distribute our software to customers including Wal-Mart, Toys “R” Us, Target, Best Buy, GameStop, Electronics Boutique, KB Toys,

Game Stores Group Ltd., and other regional and national general merchandisers, discount store chains, and specialty retailers. Geographically, we market and 

distribute our software to retailers in 70 countries and territories through offices in North America, the United Kingdom, France, Germany,Australia and Korea.

In 2002,THQ formed THQ Wireless Inc. (“THQ Wireless”). THQ Wireless provides a comprehensive wireless entertainment solution, including games,

ring tones, wallpapers, messaging and information services for mobile phones with a current catalog of more than 50 titles.

We are a Delaware corporation that was re-incorporated in 1997. We were formerly incorporated in New York in 1989 under the name Trinity Acquisition

Corporation, which changed its name in 1990 to T.HQ, Inc. through a merger with THQ, Inc., a California corporation. Our principal executive offices are

located at 27001 Agoura Road, Calabasas Hills, California 91301, and our telephone number is (818) 871-5000. Our web site is at http://www.thq.com.

THQ and the THQ logo are registered trademarks of THQ Inc.

THE INTERACTIVE ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY AND TECHNOLOGY

The console, handheld, and PC games that we publish are made available to consumers on disc (usually a CD or DVD format) or cartridge media for use

solely on dedicated hardware systems. GBA is the only current platform that uses cartridges. Until 1996, most software for dedicated platforms was sold

in cartridge form. Since then, disc-based products have become increasingly popular because they have substantially greater data storage capacity and

lower costs than cartridges.

The first modern platform was introduced by Nintendo in 1985 using 8-bit technology. 8-bit means that the central processing unit, or chip, on which the

software operates is capable of processing data in 8-bit units. Subsequent advances in technology have resulted in continuous increases in the processing

power of the chips that power both the consoles and PCs. As the technology of the hardware has advanced, the software has similarly advanced, with

faster and more complex images, more lifelike animation and sound effects and more intricate scenarios. The larger data storage capacity of disc-based

media for systems such as PS2, Xbox and GameCube enables them to provide richer content and longer play than previous platforms. This new generation

of systems is based primarily on 128-bit technology. The latest handheld platform, GBA, uses 32-bit technology.

(1) Microsoft, Nintendo and Sony are referred to herein collectively as the “hardware manufacturers” or the “manufacturers.”  Nintendo®, Game Boy®, Game Boy® Color, Game Boy®

Advance (“GBA”), GameCube™ (“GameCube”) and Nintendo® 64 (“N64”) are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Nintendo of America Inc. (“Nintendo”). Sony
PlayStation® (“PS1”) and Sony PlayStation® 2 (“PS2”) are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Sony Computer Entertainment Inc. (“Sony”). Microsoft and Xbox® (“Xbox”)
are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”).
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The following table sets forth select information on a sample of the platforms for which we have published titles:

Date of U.S.
Manufacturer Product Name Introduction Media Format Technology

Sony PlayStation 1995 CD-ROM Disc 32-bit

Nintendo Nintendo 64 1996 Cartridge 64-bit

Nintendo Game Boy Color 1998 Cartridge 6-bit (portable)

Sony PlayStation 2 2000 DVD-ROM Disc 128-bit

Nintendo Game Boy Advance 2001 Cartridge 32-bit (portable)

Nintendo GameCube 2001 Proprietary Disc 128-bit

Microsoft Xbox 2001 DVD-ROM Disc 128-bit

Nintendo Game Boy Advance SP (1) 2003 Cartridge 32-bit (portable)

(1) Since the Nintendo Game Boy® Advance and the Nintendo Game Boy® Advance SP use the same cartridges and SKUs, we do not differentiate between the two products within this
Annual Report.

PS2

Sony released the PS2 console in Japan in March 2000, in North America in October 2000, and in Europe in November 2000. The PS2 console is a 

128-bit DVD-based system that is internet and cable ready, as well has backward compatible with games published for its predecessor, the PS1. We have

published and are currently developing numerous products for the Sony PS2.

XBOX

Microsoft launched the Xbox console in North America in November 2001, in Japan in February 2002, and in Europe in March 2002. The Xbox video game

system is a 128-bit DVD-based system. We have published and are currently developing several products for Xbox.

GAMECUBE

Nintendo launched the GameCube console in Japan in September 2001, in North America in November 2001, and in Europe in May 2002. The GameCube

plays games that are manufactured on a proprietary optical disk. We have published and are currently developing several products for the GameCube.

GBA

Nintendo launched the handheld GBA platform in June 2001 and GBA SP, which is a front-lit screen version of GBA, in March 2003. We have published

numerous games for GBA and are the leading independent publisher of games for GBA.

Software for each new platform requires different standards of design and technology to fully exploit the platform’s capabilities. The introduction of new

platforms also requires that game developers devote substantial additional resources to product design and development.

PLATFORM LICENSES

Our business is dependent on our license agreements with the manufacturers. All of these licenses are for fixed terms and are not exclusive. Each license

grants us the right to develop, publish and distribute titles for use on such manufacturer’s platform(s), and requires that each such title be approved by the

manufacturer prior to development of the software. For a further description, see Note 1 – “Description of Business – Platform License Agreements” in

our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table sets forth information with respect to our platform licenses. In some instances, we have more than one platform license for a 

particular platform. In certain instances noted below, we have reached agreement with the platform manufacturer regarding business terms of a license or

license renewal but have not yet completed the contract documentation process. In the interim, and as is customary in our business, both we and the 

platform manufacturer are operating in accordance with the agreed business terms.



Expiration 
Manufacturer Platform Territory Date(s)

Nintendo Game Boy Color All countries in the Western Hemisphere March 2006

Nintendo Game Boy Color Europe,Australia and New Zealand October 2005

Nintendo Game Boy Advance All countries in the Western Hemisphere July 2004

Nintendo Game Boy Advance Europe,Australia and New Zealand April 2006

Nintendo GameCube All countries in the Western Hemisphere April 2005

Nintendo GameCube Europe,Australia and New Zealand April 2006

Sony PlayStation United States, Canada, Mexico and Latin America August 2006

Sony PlayStation Europe,Australia and New Zealand December 2005

Sony PlayStation 2 United States and Canada March 2005(1)

Sony PlayStation 2 Europe,Australia New Zealand, certain

countries in Africa and the Middle East March 2005(2)

Sony PlayStation and PlayStation 2 Korea March 2006(1)

Microsoft Xbox (3) November 2004

(1) The PS2 Licensed Publisher Agreement provides for an automatic annual renewal unless either party terminates the agreement by January 31 of the applicable year.
(2) The PS2 Licensed Publisher Agreement provides for  an automatic annual renewal unless either party terminates the agreement by February 28 of the applicable year.
(3) The territory is determined on a title-by-title basis.

Nintendo charges us an amount for each Nintendo Game Boy Advance and Game Boy Color cartridge manufactured. This amount varies based, in part,

on the memory capacity of the cartridges. Nintendo, Sony and Microsoft console agreements include a charge for every disc manufactured.The amounts

charged by the manufacturers for both console discs and handheld cartridges include a manufacturing, printing and packaging fee as well as a royalty for

the use of the manufacturer’s name, proprietary information and technology, and are subject to adjustment by the manufacturers at their discretion.The

manufacturers have the right to review, evaluate and approve a prototype of each title and the title’s packaging.

In addition, we must indemnify the manufacturers with respect to all loss, liability and expense resulting from any claim against the manufacturer involving

the development, marketing, sale, or use of our games, including any claims for copyright or trademark infringement brought against the manufacturer. As

a result, we bear a risk that the properties upon which the titles are based, or that the information and technology licensed from the manufacturer and

incorporated in the products, may infringe the rights of third parties. Our agreements with our independent software developers and property licensors

typically provide for us to be indemnified with respect to certain matters. If any claim is brought by a manufacturer against us for indemnification,

however, our developers or licensors may not have sufficient resources to, in turn, indemnify us. Furthermore, these parties’ indemnification of us may not

cover the matter that gives rise to the manufacturer’s claim.

Each platform license may be terminated by the manufacturer if a breach or default by us is not cured after we receive written notice from the 

manufacturer, or if we become insolvent. Upon termination of a platform license for any reason other than our breach or default, we have a limited 

period of time to sell any existing product inventory remaining as of the date of termination. The length of this sell-off period varies between 90 and 180

days, depending upon the platform agreement. We must destroy any such inventory remaining after the end of the sell-off period. Upon termination as a

result of our breach or default, we must destroy any remaining inventory.

PRODUCTS  

Some of our individual titles make up a substantial portion of our gross sales. The following list identifies games that generated more than 10% of our

gross sales during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, the twelve months ended March 31, 2003, and the calendar years ended December 31, 2002 

and 2001:

• In fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, no title generated more than 10% of our gross sales.

• In the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, WWE SmackDown! Shut Your Mouth for the Sony PS2 generated 12.2% of our gross sales.

• In the year ended December 31, 2002, WWE SmackDown! Shut Your Mouth for the Sony PS2 generated 10.8% of our gross sales.

• In the year ended December 31, 2001, WWF SmackDown! “Just Bring It” for the Sony PS2 generated 14.6% of our gross sales.
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Our sales are made directly to retailers and independent distributors. We distribute our games primarily to mass merchandisers and national retail chain

stores, including Wal-Mart (representing 19% of gross sales in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004) and Toys “R” Us (representing 7% of gross sales in

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004). Some of our other retailers include Target, Best Buy, GameStop, Electronics Boutique, KB Toys, and Game 

Stores Group Ltd. Sales to our ten largest customers collectively accounted for approximately 54% and 60% of our gross sales in the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2004 and the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003 (unaudited), respectively; 67% of our gross sales in the three 

months ended March 31, 2003; and 64% of our gross sales in each of the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Most of our customers do not have

written agreements or understandings which commit them to make purchases from us.

Revenue Fluctuations and Seasonality. We have experienced, and will likely continue to experience, significant quarterly fluctuations in net sales and 

operating results due to a variety of factors. The software market is highly seasonal, with sales typically significantly higher during the quarter ending

December 31st (due primarily to the increased demand for interactive games during the year-end holiday buying season). Other factors that cause 

fluctuations include the timing of our release of new titles, the popularity of both new titles and titles released in prior periods, changes in the mix of

titles with varying gross margins, the timing of customer orders, the timing of shipments by the manufacturers, fluctuations in the size and rate of growth

of consumer demand for software for various platforms, the timing of the introduction of new platforms, and the accuracy of retailers’ forecasts of 

consumer demand. Our expenses are partially based on our expectations of future sales and, as a result, operating results would be disproportionately

and adversely affected by a decrease in sales or a failure by us to meet our sales expectations. There can be no assurance that we can maintain 

consistent profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.

Profit margins may vary over time as a result of a variety of factors. Profit margins for cartridge products for the Game Boy platforms can vary based

on the cost of the memory chip used for a particular title. The other platforms support disc-based products that have significantly lower per unit 

manufacturing costs than cartridge-based products; however, they also have higher development costs than cartridge-based products.

SOFTWARE DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT

We produce products internally based on original and licensed content. Internal, original products include MX Unleashed and Red Faction. Internally 

created products based upon licensed materials include Heavy Iron Studios’ development of SpongeBob SquarePants and Scooby-Doo!. The products 

produced internally are designed and created by employees at our eight studios: Cranky Pants, Heavy Iron, Helixe, PCP&L, Rainbow, Relic Entertainment

Inc. (“Relic”),THQ Australia Studios, and Volition. Our studios are staffed by producers, game designers, software engineers, artists, animators and game

testers.

For certain internally developed concepts, we contract with independent software developers to conceptualize and develop games under our 

supervision and may own the intellectual property. We pay the independent developer a development fee in advance. Once we have recouped the 

expenses of the development fee, the independent developers generally receive a contingent compensation based on a percentage of net sales.

We also contract with independent software developers to conceptualize and develop properties, under our supervision, based upon either original 

concepts created by the developer or licenses we acquire. For these products, we generally pay either a development fee or royalty compensation based

upon actual sales. The royalty compensation is based upon a percentage of net sales, ranging from 4% to 20%. We typically pay our independent 

developers installments of the development fee (and, in the case of royalty compensation, advances against future royalty payments) based either on 

specific development milestones or on agreed-upon payment schedules. The intellectual property is owned by either the developer or the licensor.

Whether a game is developed internally or externally, upon completion of development, each game is extensively play-tested by us and sent to the 

manufacturer for its review and approval. Related artwork, user instructions, warranty information, brochures and packaging designs are also developed

under our supervision. The development cycle for a new game, including the development of the necessary software, approval by the manufacturer and

production of the initial products, typically has ranged from 12 to 24 months for console games and PC products and seven to 12 months for handheld

games. This relatively long development cycle requires that we assess whether there will be adequate retailer and consumer demand for a game well in

advance of its release.

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We operate in one reportable segment in which we are a developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software for the leading hardware 

platforms in the home video game market. Wireless gaming may become a new reportable segment as our activity in this market increases. The 

following information sets forth geographic information on our sales generated by our regional offices for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2004 and 2003

(unaudited), and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 (also See Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for additional geographic 

information on our sales and long-lived assets):



NET SALES BY TERRITORIES
Fiscal Twelve

Year Ended Months Ended 
March 31, March 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001
(Unaudited)

North America $ 453,426 $ 358,233 $ 358,124 $ 262,676

United Kingdom 88,325 61,189 67,218 60,240

Germany 44,571 22,205 26,051 25,517

France 28,961 11,986 14,556 18,185

Asia Pacific 25,563 14,034 14,580 12,374

International Total 187,420 109,414 122,405 116,316

Consolidated $ 640,846 $ 467,647 $ 480,529 $ 378,992

International operations create additional risks for our business, including internal controls over financial reporting. For additional risks, see Item 7 –

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations–Risk Factors.”

The common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “THQI.”  The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the

high and low closing sales prices of our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ National Market:

Closing Sales Prices
High Low

FISCAL 2004 (4/1/03 – 3/31/04)

First Quarter ended June 30, 2003 19.50 12.84

Second Quarter ended September 30, 2003 19.52 15.46

Third Quarter ended December 31, 2003 18.59 14.82

Fourth Quarter ended March 31, 2004 20.30 15.94

TRANSITION 2003

Three-Month Transition Period ended March 31, 2003 14.18 11.15

2002 

First Quarter ended March 31, 2002 34.79 26.29

Second Quarter ended June 30, 2002 36.17 28.05

Third Quarter ended September 30, 2002 27.79 19.82

Fourth Quarter ended December 31, 2002 23.17 12.22

The last reported price of our common stock on June 4, 2004, as reported by NASDAQ National Market, was $21.90 per share.

HOLDERS
As of June 4, 2004 there were approximately 284 holders of record of our common stock.

DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development

of our business and, therefore, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the future. Our principal banking agreement provides that we will not

pay any cash dividends.

MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY,
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

28:29T H Q  : 2 0 0 4  : A N N UA L  R E P O RT



Effective January 1, 2003, we changed our fiscal year end from December 31 to March 31. The change resulted in a three-month transitional period ended

March 31, 2003. References to Transition 2003, unless otherwise indicated, refer to the three-month transitional period ended March 31, 2003. Since the

change in fiscal year end affects the comparability of the information reflected in the selected financial data, we have included unaudited results for the

period from April 1, 2002 through March 31, 2003. Other than this unaudited period, the selected consolidated financial data presented below as of and

for each of the fiscal years and Transition 2003 in the five-year period ended March 31, 2004 are derived from our audited consolidated financial 

statements. The Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2004, March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and the Consolidated Statements of Operations

and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 (unaudited), Transition

2003, and the four years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999, and the reports thereon, are included elsewhere herein.

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA 

Years Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004(a) 2003 2003(b) 2002(c) 2001 2000(d) 1999

(Unaudited)

Net sales $ 640,846 $   467,647 $  66,800 $ 480,529 $ 378,992 $ 347,003 $ 303,483 

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 229,218 178,291 26,378 185,593 154,898 140,699 134,563 

License amortization and royalties 71,132 38,988 5,576 40,476 33,144 34,675 28,858 

Software development amortization 105,632 84,916 12,018 83,698 35,144 42,875 19,512 

Product development 36,850 36,531 8,899 34,696 17,774 18,605 15,511 

Selling and marketing 92,475 70,978 14,294 66,443 46,745 42,446 35,440 

Payment to venture partner 9,675 9,218 644 10,146 8,673 17,707 6,119 

General and administrative 47,006 36,794 8,442 34,993 28,470 20,076 14,970 

Total costs and expenses 591,988 455,716 76,251 456,045 324,848 317,083 254,973 

Income (loss) from operations 48,858 11,931 (9,451) 24,484 54,144 29,920 48,510 

Interest income, net 2,378 4,833 878 5,277 2,572 1,323 1,109 

Other income (expenses) 4,000 (12,409) (2,403) (10,006) —  —   

Income (loss) before income taxes 55,236 4,355 (10,976) 19,755 56,716 31,243 49,619 

Income taxes 19,397 1,812 (3,290) 6,761 20,703 13,054 18,293 

Net income (loss) $ 35,839 2,543 $ (7,686) $ 12,994 $ 36,013 $ 18,189 $ 31,326 

Net income (loss) per share basic $ 0.94 $       0.07 $   (0.20) $     0.33 $    1.10 $    0.60 $    1.10 

Net income (loss) per share diluted $ 0.92 $       0.06 $   (0.20) $     0.32 $    1.01 $    0.56 $    0.99 

Shares used in per share calculation — basic 38,186 39,018 38,319 39,203 32,717 30,136 28,560 

Shares used in per share calculation — diluted 39,004 40,552 38,319 41,243 35,623 32,352 31,796 

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table summarizes certain selected consolidated financial data, which should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Notes there to and with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere herein.



BALANCE SHEET DATA

(In thousands)

March 31, Transition December 31,
2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Working capital $  309,633 $ 286,899 $ 286,899 $ 320,588 $ 319,605 $ 110,269 $   91,860 

Total assets $  527,151 $ 472,949 $  472,949 $ 537,860 $ 487,966 $ 229,949 $ 184,057

Lines of credit $           — $           —     $            —      $           — $           — $   15,473 $   16,702 

Stockholders’ equity $  438,592 $ 396,413 $ 396,413 $ 408,866 $ 398,862 $ 132,125 $ 108,306

Notes:

The table above reflects the May 1999 pooling of interests with PCP&L, the December 1999 pooling of interests with Genetic Anomalies, and the August 2000 pooling of interests
with Volition. All prior period information has been restated accordingly.

(a) Net income includes a $4.0 million benefit for a settlement of dispute with directors’ and officers’ insurance carrier.

(b) Net income includes a charge of $1.8 million due to the other than temporary impairment of our investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd. (See – “Note 8 – Other Long-Term Assets”).
We also changed our fiscal year end from December 31 to March 31, effective January 1, 2003.

(c) Net income includes a charge of $7.9 million, net of tax for the cancellation of 20 SKUs as well as a charge of $4.6 million, net of tax related to the settlement of a class action
lawsuit and a charge of $1.1 million, net of tax related to the write-off of inventory and software development for “WWF”-branded games that we had been prevented from shipping
pursuant to an action by the World Wide Fund for Nature against World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and a charge of $2.8 million, net of tax related to the discontinuation of our
online joint venture in the United Kingdom (Network Interactive Sports, Ltd.).

(d) Net income includes a charge of $5.9 million, net of tax related to a regular asset impairment review and also as a result of changing technology in the video game market.
The charge consisted of costs associated with software development and related costs for products that had been discontinued or whose values were deemed unrecoverable through
future undiscounted cash flows.
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OVERVIEW

THQ is a leading global developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software that is playable on the following platforms:

• Home video game consoles such as Sony PlayStation and Sony PlayStation 2, Microsoft Xbox, and Nintendo GameCube;

• Handheld platforms such as Nintendo Game Boy Advance;

• Personal computers; and 

• Wireless devices.

Sony and Nintendo recently announced that they would be introducing new handheld gaming devices, PlayStation Portable (“PSP”), is currently expected

to be released in March 2005, and the Nintendo DS potentially late in 2004. We have products in development on both handheld platforms, as well as the

next generation platforms, and will launch them when the platforms are released.

Our business involves the development, marketing and sale of video game products, either internally, through co-development relationships, or by license.

We develop our products using our internal development resources and external development resources acting under contract with us, some of which are

independent and in some of which we take an ownership position. We typically select our external developers based on their track records and expertise

in producing products in the same category. One developer will often produce the same game for multiple platforms and will produce sequels to the 

original game. We believe that selecting and using development resources in this manner allows us to strengthen and leverage the particular expertise of

our internal and external development resources that we anticipate will add to the quality of our products. In the United States, we primarily sell our 

products on a direct basis to mass merchandisers and national retail chain stores. Our products are sold internationally in more than 70 countries, on a

direct-to-retail basis and through sub- distributors. We conduct our international activities through offices in the United Kingdom, France, Germany,Australia,

and Korea.

Our profitability is directly affected by revenues from the sales of our video game software. After the gross margin on the sales of our titles recoup 

development and marketing expenses for internally developed titles, the gross margin on the incremental net sales positively impacts our operating 

margin. For externally developed titles, development fees are paid to third party developers. Once the development fees are recouped, the gross 

margin less royalties on the incremental net sales directly impact our operating margin.

Consistent with our business strategy, our focus with respect to future game development will primarily be to continue to build a well-diversified product

portfolio. We are executing against our strategic plan to increase our share on PS2, Xbox and PC while maintaining our leadership position in the family

and handheld market. We plan to achieve this through the launch of high-quality new original properties for the mature and serious gamer as well as 

continuing to capture the mass-market consumer with titles based on well-known licenses. In fiscal 2005 we intend to publish games from our leading

franchises, including Disney/Pixar,WWE, Nickelodeon, Sega and Warner Bros. Upcoming titles being developed include games based on three major holi-

day movie releases:Walt Disney Pictures Presentation of a Pixar Animation Studios film The Incredibles, Nickelodeon’s The SpongeBob SquarePants Movie,

and Warner Bros. Polar Express. Additionally, our mass-market lineup in fiscal 2005 will include popular Nickelodeon titles such as The Fairly OddParents,

Jimmy Neutron and Nicktoons. We intend to continue to develop new original properties and core gamer titles as well, such as Full Spectrum Warrior,

which was released in June 2004, as well as the upcoming titles S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow of Chernobyl, Warhammer®40,000: Dawn of War, The Punisher and

Destroy All Humans!.

In addition to acquiring or creating high profile games, we will also continue our focus on establishing strong technology and internal development 

capabilities. In April 2004, we bolstered our internal development capabilities with the acquisition of Relic. With the addition of Relic, our development

operations now include 17 teams and nearly 400 people located in eight studios. We are aggressively building on this base of talent and expect to spend

an additional $10 million in product development in fiscal 2005, up from the $37 million spent in fiscal 2004. These funds will be used to support current

generation projects such as bringing development for key franchises in-house, as well as developing tools and establishing shared technologies for next-

generation consoles and new handheld devices. We will also continue to work with independent studios, maintaining our balance of internally and 

externally developed content.

Our business strategy also includes investments in emerging applications, such as wireless gaming. In fiscal 2004,THQ Wireless executed on its strategy

of building relationships with many major carriers worldwide, securing content with leading brands and establishing a direct-to-consumer portal for games

delivery. THQ Wireless recently entered into agreements with the National Football League (NFL) and the National Hockey League (NHL) and their

respective players’ associations to develop officially licensed mobile content based on the teams and players of the NFL and NHL. THQ Wireless also

recently renewed its license agreement with Major League Baseball (MLB) and the Major League Baseball Players Association (MLBPA). Additionally, in April

2004,THQ Wireless acquired a controlling interest in Minick Holding AG, a European-based mobile applications and billing expert. This acquisition gives

THQ Wireless one of the largest direct-to-consumer billing and distribution network solutions in the world, building on its strength as a turnkey solution

for consumers, carriers and handset manufacturers.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated financial statements, which 

have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated

financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period. The policies discussed below are considered by management to be critical because they are both important to the portrayal of our

financial condition and results of operations and their application places the most significant demands on management’s judgment, with financial reporting

results relying on estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Specific risks for these critical accounting policies are described in

the following paragraphs. For all of these policies, management cautions that actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different

assumptions or conditions.

Allowances for price protection, returns and doubtful accounts. We derive revenues from sales of packaged software for video game systems and 

personal computers and sales of software and services for wireless devices. Product revenue is recognized net of allowances for price protection and

returns and various customer discounts. We typically only allow returns for our personal computer products; however, we may decide to provide price

protection or allow returns for our video game system or personal computer products after we analyze: i) inventory remaining in the retail channel, ii)

the rate of inventory sell through in the retail channel, and iii) our remaining inventory on hand. We maintain a policy of giving credits for price 

protection and returns, but do not give cash refunds.

We establish sales allowances based on estimates of future price protection and returns with respect to current period product revenue. We analyze 

historical price protection granted, historical returns, current sell through of retailer and distributor inventory of our products, current trends in the video

game market and the overall economy, changes in customer demand and acceptance of our products, and other related factors when evaluating the 

adequacy of the price protection and returns allowance. In addition, management monitors the volume of our sales to retailers and distributors and their

inventories, because slow-moving inventory in the distribution channel can result in the requirement for price protection or returns in subsequent 

periods. In the past, actual price protection and returns have not generally exceeded our reserves. However, actual price protection and returns in any

future period are uncertain. While management believes it can make reliable estimates for these matters, if we changed our assumptions and estimates,

our price protection and returns reserves would change, which would impact the net revenue we report. In addition, if actual price protection and returns

were significantly greater than the reserves we have established, the actual results of our reported net sales would decrease. Conversely, if actual price

protection and returns were significantly less than our reserves, our reported net sales would increase.

Similarly, management must use significant judgment and make estimates in connection with establishing allowances for doubtful accounts in any 

accounting period. Management analyzes customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the 

adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our bad debt expense for any period if 

management made different judgments or utilized different estimates. If our customers experience financial difficulties and are not able to meet their

ongoing financial obligations to us, our results of operations may be adversely impacted.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, the three months ended March 31, 2003 and the calendar year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded

allowances for future price protection, returns and doubtful accounts of approximately $121 million, $10 million, and $69.6 million, respectively. The

increase in fiscal 2004 in allowances for future price protection, returns and doubtful accounts is related to the increase in sales during the fiscal year and

our estimate of future price protection and returns based on the factors discussed above. Additionally, during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 we

recorded approximately $7 million of bad debt expense due to KB Toys’ filing for bankruptcy protection on January 14, 2004. As of March 31, 2004,

March 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002, our aggregate reserves against accounts receivable for price protection, returns and doubtful accounts 

were approximately $52.4 million, $43.4 million and $59.9 million, respectively.

Licenses. Minimum guaranteed royalty payments for intellectual property licenses are initially recorded as an asset (licenses) and as a liability (accrued 

royalties) at the contractual amount upon execution of the contract when no significant performance remains with the licensor. When significant 

performance remains with the licensor, we record royalty payments as an asset (licenses) when actually paid rather than upon execution of the contract.

Royalty payments for intellectual property licenses are classified as current assets and current liabilities to the extent such royalty payments relate to 

anticipated sales during the subsequent year and long-term assets and long-term liabilities to the extent such royalty payments relate to anticipated sales

after one year.
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Licenses are expensed to license amortization and royalties at the higher of (i) the contractual royalty rate based on actual net product sales or (ii) the

ratio of current units sold to total projected units sold. When, in management’s estimate, future cash flows will not be sufficient to recover previously 

capitalized costs, we expense these capitalized costs to license amortization and royalties. See – “Long-Lived Assets” below. If actual revenues or revised

forecasted units fall below the initial forecasted units, the charge to license amortization and royalties may be larger than anticipated in any given quarter.

As of March 31, 2004, the net carrying value of our licenses was $22.2 million. If we were required to write off licenses, due to changes in market 

condition or product quality, our results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Software Development. We utilize both independent software developers and internal development teams to develop our software. We account for 

software development costs in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer

Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.”  We capitalize software development costs once technological feasibility is established and we 

determine that such costs are recoverable against future revenues. For products where proven game engine technology exists, this may occur early in the

development cycle. We evaluate technological feasibility on a title-by-title basis. Amounts related to software development for which technological 

feasibility is not yet met are charged immediately to product development expense. We capitalize the milestone payments made to independent software

developers and the direct payroll costs for our internal development teams.

Capitalized software development is expensed to software development amortization at the higher of (i) the contractual rate based on actual net product

sales or (ii) the ratio of current units sold to total projected units sold. When, in management’s estimate, future cash flows will not be sufficient to 

recover previously capitalized costs, we expense these costs to software development amortization. See – “Long-Lived Assets” below. If actual revenues,

or revised forecasted units, fall below the initial forecasted units, the charge to software development amortization may be larger than anticipated in any

given quarter. As of March 31, 2004, the net carrying value of our software development was $49.8 million. If we were required to write off software

development, due to changes in market condition or product quality, our results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Goodwill. In conjunction with the implementation of the new accounting rules for goodwill as of the beginning of 2002, we completed a goodwill 

impairment review. According to our accounting policy, we also performed an annual review during the quarters ended June 30, 2003 and June 30, 2002,

and in both reviews we found no impairment. We will perform a similar review in future quarters ending June 30, or more frequently if indicators of 

potential impairment exist. Our impairment review process is based on a discounted future cash flow approach that uses our estimates of revenue for the

reporting units, driven by anticipated success of our products and product release schedules, and estimated costs as well as appropriate discount rates.

These estimates are consistent with the plans and estimates that we use to manage the underlying businesses. We performed similar impairment tests for

indefinite-lived intangible assets and found no impairment. The success of our products is affected by the ability to accurately predict which platforms and

which products we develop will be successful. Also, our revenues and earnings are dependent on our ability to meet our product release schedules. Due

to these and other factors described in the subsection entitled “Risk Factors” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations” we may not realize the future net cash flows necessary to recover our goodwill.

Based on these judgments and assumptions, we determine whether we need to take an impairment charge to reduce the value of the goodwill and 

indefinite-lived intangible assets stated on our balance sheets to reflect their estimated fair values. Judgments and assumptions about future values are

complex and often subjective. They can be affected by a variety of factors, including but not limited to, significant negative industry or economic trends,

significant changes in the manner or use of the acquired assets or the strategy of our overall business and significant underperformance relative to 

expected historical or projected future operating results. Although we believe the judgments and assumptions we have made in the past have been 

reasonable and appropriate, there is nonetheless a high degree of uncertainty and judgment involved.

We continue to encounter the risks and difficulties faced with launching or acquiring a new business. When the business is a development studio, we look

for ways to maximize the talent and intellectual property within the studio. We make judgments and assumptions as to the commercial success and 

quantity of games developed by a particular studio. Different judgments and assumptions could materially impact our reported financial results. For

example, if we do not develop games with the same commercial success or the same number of games as we have estimated, we may need to take an

impairment charge against goodwill in the future. More conservative assumptions of the anticipated future benefits from these businesses would result in

lower fair values which could result in impairment charges, which would decrease net income and result in lower asset values on our balance sheets.

Conversely, less conservative assumptions would result in higher fair values which could result in lower impairment charges and higher net income.

Long-Lived Assets. We evaluate long-lived assets, including but not limited to licenses, software development, property and equipment and identifiable 

intangible assets with finite lives, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable. Factors we consider in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant under-performance of a product or platform in 

relation to expectations, significant negative industry or economic trends, and significant changes or planned changes in our use of the assets.



Potential impairment of the assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be

generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying

amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Judgments and assumptions about future values are complex and often subjective. They can be affected by a variety of factors, including but not limited

to, significant negative industry or economic trends, significant changes in the manner or use of the acquired assets or the strategy of our overall business,

and significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results. Although we believe the judgments and assump-

tions management has made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate, there is nonetheless a high degree of uncertainty and judgment involved.

More conservative assumptions of the anticipated future cash flows from these assets would result in lower fair values which could result in impairment

charges, which would decrease net income and result in lower asset values on our balance sheets. Conversely, less conservative assumptions would result

in higher fair values which could result in lower impairment charges and higher net income.

We also make judgments about the remaining useful lives of long-lived assets. When we determine that the useful lives of assets are shorter than we had

originally estimated, and there are sufficient cash flows to support the carrying value of the assets, we accelerate the rate of depreciation charges in order

to fully depreciate the assets over their new shorter useful lives.

Income taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the

jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our current tax exposures in each jurisdiction including the impact, if any, of additional

taxes resulting from tax examinations as well as making judgments regarding the recoverability of deferred tax assets. To the extent recovery of deferred

tax assets is not likely based on our estimation of future taxable income in each jurisdiction, a valuation allowance is established. Tax exposures can involve

complex issues and may require an extended period to resolve. The estimated effective tax rate is adjusted for the tax related to significant unusual items.

Changes in the geographic mix or estimated level of annual pre-tax income can affect the overall effective tax rate.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements. In December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”

(revised in December 2003) (“FIN 46-R”). This interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” addresses 

consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities (“VIEs”) that either: (i) do not have sufficient equity investment at risk to permit the

entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or (ii) are owned by equity investors who lack an essential characteristic

of a controlling financial interest. Generally, application of FIN 46-R is required in financial statements of public entities that have interests in structures

commonly referred to as special-purpose entities for periods ending after December 15, 2003, and, for other types of VIEs, for periods ending after March

15, 2004. We have reviewed this pronouncement and determined it is not applicable since we do not own or have an investment in any VIEs.

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ratified the consensus reached on paragraphs 6 through 23 of Issue No. 03-01 (“EITF 03-1”),“The Meaning

of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments”. EITF 03-1 requires that certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures

should be required for debt and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity under SFAS No. 115,“Accounting for Certain

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and SFAS No. 124, “Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations” that are

impaired at the balance sheet date but for which an other-than-temporary impairment has not been recognized.We adopted EITF 03-1 in the year ended

March 31, 2004; however, it did not have a material impact on the disclosures in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHANGE IN FISCAL YEAR

On February 13, 2003, we announced that the Board of Directors approved a change of our fiscal year end from December 31 to March 31, effective January

1, 2003. This change resulted in a three month transitional reporting period ended March 31, 2003. References to Transition 2003, unless otherwise indicated,

refer to the three-month transitional period ended March 31, 2003. This discussion compares: (i) the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 (“fiscal 2004”) 

with the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 (unaudited); and (ii) our fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 (“fiscal 2002” and “fiscal 2001”),

respectively.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA
The following table sets forth certain consolidated statements of operations data for the periods indicated as a percentage of total net sales (In thousands):

Year Ended March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2004(a) 2003(b)(c) 2002(c) 2001

(Unaudited)

Net sales $ 640,846 100.0% $   467,647 100.0% $ 480,529 100.0% $ 378,992 100.0%

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 229,218 35.8 178,291 38.1 185,593 38.6 154,898 40.9

License amortization and royalties 71,132 11.1 38,988 8.3 40,476 8.4 33,144 8.7 

Software development amortization 105,632 16.5 84,916 18.2 83,698 17.4 35,144 9.3 

Product development 36,850 5.8 36,531 7.8 34,696 7.2 17,774 4.7

Selling and marketing 92,475 14.4 70,978 15.2 66,443 13.8 46,745 12.3

Payment to venture partner 9,675 1.5 9,218 2.0 10,146 2.1 8,673 2.3

General and administrative 47,006 7.3 36,794 7.9 34,993 7.4 28,470 7.5

Total costs and expenses 591,988 92.4 455,716 97.5 456,045 94.9 324,848 85.7

Income from operations 48,858 7.6 11,931 2.6 24,484 5.1 54,144 14.3

Interest income, net 2,378 0.4 4,833 1.0 5,277 1.1 2,572 0.7

Other income (expense) 4,000 0.6 (12,409) (2.6) (10,006) (2.1) — —

Income before income taxes 55,236 8.6 4,355 0.9 19,755 4.1 56,716 15.0

Income taxes 19,397 3.0 1,812 0.4 6,761 1.4 20,703 5.5

Net income $ 35,839 5.6% 2,543 0.5% $ 12,994 2.7% $ 36,013 9.5%

(a) Net income includes a $4.0 million settlement of dispute with directors’ and officers’ insurance carrier.
(b) Net income includes a charge of $1.8 million due to the other than temporary impairment of our investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd. (See – “Note 8 – Other Long-Term Assets”). We
also changed our fiscal year end from December 31 to March 31, effective January 1, 2003.
(c) Net income includes a charge of $7.9 million, net of tax for the cancellation of 20 SKUs as well as a charge of $4.6 million, net of tax related to the settlement of a class action
lawsuit and a charge of $1.1 million, net of tax related to the write-off of inventory and software development for “WWF”-branded games that we had been prevented from shipping
pursuant to an action by the World Wide Fund for Nature against World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and a charge of $2.8 million, net of tax related to the discontinuation of our
online joint venture in the United Kingdom (Network Interactive Sports, Ltd.).

The following table breaks down net sales by territory for the periods indicated as a percentage of total net sales (In thousands):

NET SALES BY TERRITORY

Year Ended March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001

North America $ 453,426 70.8% $ 358,233 76.6% $ 358,124 74.5% $ 262,676 69.3%

United Kingdom 88,325 13.8 61,189 13.1 67,218 14.0 60,240 15.9

Germany 44,571 6.9 22,205 4.7 26,051 5.5 25,517 6.7

France 28,961 4.5 11,986 2.6 14,556 3.0 18,185 4.8

Asia Pacific 25,563 4.0 14,034 3.0 14,580 3.0 12,374 3.3

Total net sales $ 640,846 100.0% $ 467,647 100.0% $ 480,529 100.0% $ 378,992 100.0%



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004 to the Twelve Months Ended March 31, 2003 (Unaudited)

Net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 was $35.8 million or $0.92 per diluted share, on net sales of $640.8 million, as compared to $2.5

million or $0.06 per diluted share for the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 (unaudited), based on net sales of $467.6 million. The increase in net

income for fiscal 2004 is attributable to increased net sales, improved gross margin and leverage of our operating costs and expenses. Net income for 

fiscal 2004 was positively affected by a $4.0 million settlement of a dispute with our directors’ and officers’ insurance carrier.

NET SALES
The following table sets forth our net sales by platform for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 (unaudited):

Net Sales for the Years Ended (In thousands):
March 31, March 31,

2004 2003 Increase/ %
Platform (Unaudited) (Decrease) Change

Consoles

Sony PlayStation 2 $ 247,603 38.6% $ 183,432 39.2% $ 64,171 35.0%

Microsoft Xbox 71,132 11.1 18,709 4.0 52,423 280.2%

Nintendo GameCube 61,356 9.6 51,468 11.0 9,888 19.2%

Sony PlayStation 14,749 2.3 34,254 7.3 (19,505) (56.9)%

394,840 61.6 287,863 61.6 106,977 37.2%

Handheld

Nintendo Game Boy Color 1,621 0.2 20,480 4.4 (18,859) (92.1)%

Nintendo Game Boy Advance 162,109 25.3 108,353 23.2 53,756 49.6%

163,730 25.5 128,833 27.5 34,897 27.1%

PC CD-ROM 74,934 11.7 49,333 10.5 26,601 51.9%

Wireless 6,860 1.1 1,944 0.4 4,916 252.9%

Other 482 0.1 (326) 0.0 808 247.9%

Net Sales $ 640,846 100.0% $ 467,647 100.0% $ 173,199 37.0%

Net Sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 increased 37% from the prior twelve-month period, from $467.6 million to $640.8 million. There were

several factors that affected the fiscal 2004 net sales performance. First, positively impacting our performance was an improvement in video game sales for

consoles. Net sales for the year ended March 31, 2004 for the three major console platforms: PS2, Xbox, and GameCube, increased 50% from the prior

twelve-month period, from $253.6 million to $380.1 million and overall console sales increased 37.2%.

CONSOLES

Sony PlayStation 2 Net Sales
Twelve months

Fiscal Year Ended ended % change
(In thousands): March 31, 2004 % of net sales March 31, 2003 % of net sales in net sales

(Unaudited)

$ 247,603 38.6% $ 183,432 39.2% 35.0%

Net sales of video games for PS2 increased for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 due to new releases of WWE SmackDown! Here Comes the Pain,

Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo, SpongeBob SquarePants: Battle for Bikini Bottom, MX Unleashed, Scooby-Doo! Mystery Mayhem and the launch of two new

original brands – Tak and the Power of Juju and Sphinx and the Cursed Mummy. In the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, we released  WWE

SmackDown! Shut Your Mouth and Red Faction II for PS2. We released 17 new SKUs in fiscal year 2004 compared to 11 SKUs in the prior twelve-month

period. The increases were also due to the higher installed base of PS2 hardware in fiscal 2004.
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We expect net sales from PS2 products to continue to grow in fiscal 2005, but as net sales from these products increase, we expect our growth rates to

decrease due to the maturity of the current hardware cycle. However, all three major console platforms– PS2, Xbox and GameCube–have recently reduced

their console prices to $149, which could increase demand for the consoles and thus for the video games.

Net sales of video games for Sony PS1 decreased in fiscal 2004, from $34.3 million in the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 to $14.7 million.

This decrease was attributable to the transition to newer generation console systems, such as PS2. Although our PS1 products are playable on the 

PS2 console, we expect sales of PS1 titles to continue to decline in the future.

Microsoft Xbox Net Sales
Twelve months

Fiscal Year Ended ended % change
(In thousands): March 31, 2004 % of net sales March 31, 2003 % of net sales in net sales

(Unaudited)

$ 71,132 11.1% $ 18,709 4.0% 280.2%

Net sales of video games for Xbox increased for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 primarily due to sales of WWE Raw 2 and Disney/Pixar’s Finding

Nemo. Other significant releases included MotoGP2 and MX Unleashed. WWE Raw was the only significant title launched in the previous twelve-month

period. The increase in net sales was also due to the higher installed base of Xbox hardware compared to the same period last year. In total we released

16 SKUs during the current fiscal year compared to 5 SKUs in the same period last year.

We expect net sales from Xbox products to continue to be a significant portion of our total net sales in fiscal 2005; however, the growth rates should

decrease due to the maturity of the current hardware cycle. However, all three major console platforms — PS2, Xbox and GameCube — have recently

reduced their console prices to $149, which could increase demand for the consoles and thus for the video games.

Nintendo GameCube Net Sales

Twelve months
Fiscal Year Ended ended % change

(In thousands): March 31, 2004 % of net sales March 31, 2003 % of net sales in net sales
(Unaudited)

$ 61,356 9.6% $ 51,468 11.0% 19.2%

Net sales of video games for GameCube for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 included releases of WWE Wrestlemania X9, SpongeBob Square Pants:

Battle for Bikini Bottom and Tak and the Power of Juju. We released 11 GameCube SKUs during the 2004 fiscal year compared to 10 SKUs in the same

period in 2003. Net sales for fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 also increased due to strong sales of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo.

We expect net sales from GameCube products to increase moderately in fiscal 2005.

HANDHELD PLATFORMS

The second factor positively affecting net sales for fiscal 2004 was increase in sales for GBA, a handheld platform. Sales for GBA, increased 50%, from

$108.4 million in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003 to $162.1 million in fiscal 2004.

Nintendo Game Boy Advance Net Sales

Twelve months
Fiscal Year Ended ended % change

(In thousands): March 31, 2004 % of net sales March 31, 2003 % of net sales in net sales
(Unaudited)

$ 162,109 25.3% $ 108,353 23.2% 49.6%



Net sales of video games for GBA primarily increased for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 due to strong sales of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo. Other

significant releases for the year included: SpongeBob SquarePants: Battle for Bikini Bottom, Tak & The Power of Juju, Sonic Battle and Banjo Kazooie.

The increase in net sales was also due to the higher installed base of GBA hardware compared to the same period last year. The increase in hardware

sales is due in part to Nintendo’s launch in March 2003 of the Game Boy Advance SP, which is a front-lit screen version of their GBA platform. In total

we released 33 SKUs during the current fiscal year compared to 24 SKUs in the same period last year.

We expect net sales from GBA products to continue to be a significant portion of our total net sales in fiscal 2005. The launch of new handheld 

platforms (Nintendo DS and Sony PSP) may negatively impact demand for GBA and could result in decreased sales in this platform.

Sales of video games for the Nintendo Game Boy Color decreased from $20.5 million in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003 to $1.6 million

in fiscal 2004. The decrease in net sales was attributable to the transition to newer generation handheld systems. Although our Game Boy Color 

products are playable on GBA hardware, we expect sales of Game Boy Color titles to continue to decline in the future.

PC CD-ROMS

The third factor positively affecting net sales in fiscal 2004 was sales of PC CD-ROMs. Net sales for fiscal 2004 increased 52% from the prior 

twelve-month period, from $49.3 million to $74.9 million.

PC CD-ROM Net Sales
Twelve months

Fiscal Year Ended ended % change
(In thousands): March 31, 2004 % of net sales March 31, 2003 % of net sales in net sales

(Unaudited)

$ 74,934 11.7% $ 49,333 10.5% 51.9%

Net sales of our PC CD-ROM games increased for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 primarily due to strong current year sales of Disney/Pixar’s 

Finding Nemo. Increases in net sales during the current fiscal year were also due to strong sales of Valusoft’s PC CD-ROMs. In total we released 52 PC 

CD-ROM SKUs published from our ValuSoft division and 16 other PC CD-ROM SKUs during the current fiscal year compared to 51 PC CD-ROM SKUs

published by our ValuSoft division and 11 other PC CD-ROM SKUs in the same period last year.

WIRELESS

Wireless Net Sales

Twelve months
Fiscal Year Ended ended % change

(In thousands): March 31, 2004 % of net sales March 31, 2003 % of net sales in net sales
(Unaudited)

$ 6,860 1.1% $ 1,944 0.4% 252.9%

Net sales of content for wireless devices increased from $1.9 million in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, to $6.9 million in fiscal 2004,

which primarily included wireless games content. We expect net sales of wireless content to increase in fiscal 2005 as we expand our product offerings

and relationships with the carriers. In addition, we have recently entered into licensing agreements with the NFL and NHL and their respective players’

associations to develop mobile content based on the teams and players of each league, renewed our license with the MLB and entered into a new license

with the MLBPA.
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SALES BY TERRITORY

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and the twelve months ended March 31, 2003, our net sales for the North America

and international territories:

Net Sales for the Twelve Months Ended March 31, 2004 March 31, 2003 Increase / 
(In thousands) (Unaudited) (Decrease) % Change

North America $ 453,426 $ 358,233 $ 95,193 26.6%

International 187,420 109,414 78,006 71.3%

Net Sales $    640,846 $    467,647 $ 173,199 37.0%

North America Net Sales

North America net sales comprised 71% of our net sales in fiscal 2004 and 77% of net sales for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003. Total net

sales in North America increased by 27% in fiscal 2004, from $358.2 million in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, to $453.4 million.

The increase in North America net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 as compared to the same period last year was due to:

• the success of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo on all platforms;

• the release of WWE SmackDown! Here Comes The Pain for PS2, WWE Raw 2 for Xbox, SpongeBob SquarePants: Battle for Bikini Bottom on all

platforms, Sonic Advance 2 for GBA and WWE Wrestlemainia X9 for GameCube;

• the domestic release of 81 SKUs (excluding ValuSoft) in the current fiscal year compared to 63 SKUs (excluding ValuSoft) released in the same 

period of the prior year; and

• the higher installed base of all hardware platforms compared to the same period last year.

We expect North America net sales to continue to constitute the largest portion of our net sales in fiscal 2005.

International Net Sales

International net sales increased by 71% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 as compared to the prior twelve-month period, from $109.4 million to

$187.4 million. The strengthening of foreign currencies, primarily the Great British Pound (“GBP”) and the European Currency Unit (“Euro”), increased

reported international sales by $23.5 million or 22%. Based on reported amounts, the increase in net sales was primarily due to:

• the release on all platforms of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo in all of our international territories;

• success of WWE SmackDown! Here Comes the Pain for PS2; and

• the release of three SKUs focused on our international territories – Broken Sword 3 for PS2, Xbox, and PC CD-ROM, and MotoGP 2 and Yager

for both Xbox and PC CD-ROM.



COSTS AND EXPENSES, NET INTEREST INCOME, OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) AND INCOME TAXES
The following table sets forth information about our costs and expenses, net interest income, other income (expenses) and income taxes for the periods

indicated as a percentage of total net sales:
Percent of Net Sales
Twelve Months Ended

March 31,
2004 2003

(Unaudited)

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 35.8% 38.1%

License amortization and royalties 11.1 8.3

Software development amortization 16.5 18.2 

Product development 5.8 7.8 

Selling and marketing 14.4 15.2 

Payment to venture partner 1.5 2.0 

General and administrative 7.3 7.9 

Total costs and expenses 92.4 97.5 

Income from operations 7.6 2.5 

Interest income, net 0.4 1.0 

Other income (expense) 0.6 (2.6) 

Income before income taxes 8.6 0.9 

Income taxes 3.0 0.4 

Net income 5.6% 0.5%

Costs and expenses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 increased over the prior twelve-month period, from $455.7 million to $592.0 million;

however, costs and expenses as a percent of net sales decreased from 98% to 92%. The largest component of costs and expenses is the cost of sales,

which consisted of $178.3 million in the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 and $229.2 million in fiscal 2004. Software development amortization and

selling and marketing expenses are generally the next most significant factors which impacted costs and expenses.

COST OF SALES

Cost of sales represented 36% and 38% of net sales for the twelve-month periods ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The primary factors that

decreased the cost of sales as a percentage of net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 were: (1) higher margins on software developed for 

GBA; (2) higher average net selling price for our PC CD-ROM products due to the success of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo; and (3) the increase percentage 

of wireless net sales which carry little to no cost of sales. We expect improved operating margins in fiscal 2005 due to key releases of higher priced 

PC CD-ROM products, including Full Spectrum Warrior, S.T.A.L.K.E.R.: Shadow of Chernobyl, and Warhammer 40,000:Dawn of War.

LICENSE AMORTIZATION AND ROYALTIES

License amortization and royalties increased as a percentage of net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 as compared to the same twelve-month

period last year. In absolute dollars, license amortization and royalties for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 also increased over the prior twelve-month

period, from $39.0 million to $71.1 million. This increase was primarily volume driven led by the release of Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo on all platforms,

which generated significant net revenue and at a higher overall royalty rate than the titles released in the same twelve-month period last year, which included

Red Faction II, an internally owned brand, which carried no license fees.

SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT AMORTIZATION

Software development amortization costs increased from $84.9 million in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003 to $105.6 million in fiscal 2004.

Software development amortization for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003 included a charge of approximately $12 million related to 

an assessment of the recoverability of capitalized development costs pertaining to 20 SKUs. Excluding this charge, software development amortization

increased as a percentage of net sales by approximately 1%. This increase is due to the higher mix of net sales from console products which carry 

higher development costs.

40:41T H Q  : 2 0 0 4  : A N N UA L  R E P O RT



PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Product development expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales from 8% for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003 to 6% for the fiscal year

ended March 31, 2004. The decrease in product development expenses as a percentage of net sales is due to increased sales volume as well as changes we

implemented to improve product quality, including the shutdown of our Outrage® Games development studio, the downsizing of Pacific Coast Power & Light

Co. development studio, and the restructuring of our corporate product development department. We expect product development expenses to increase in

our fiscal year ending March 31, 2005, reflecting our investment in the next generation of hardware consoles and our focus on internal studio development.

SELLING AND MARKETING

Selling and marketing expenses decreased slightly as a percentage of net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 as compared to the same period

last year, from 15% to 14%. In absolute dollars, selling and marketing expenses increased for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, from $71.0 million to

$92.5 million. The increase in absolute dollars is due to the advertising and other promotional support needed for such titles as WWE SmackDown! Here

Comes The Pain, SpongeBob SquarePants Battle for Bikini Bottom, Sphinx and The Cursed Mummy, Splashdown: Rides Gone Wild, Tak and The Power of

Juju and Disney/Pixar’s Finding Nemo. We expect selling and marketing expenses to slightly decline as a percent of sales in fiscal year ending March 31,

2005 due to improved leverage of greater projected sales with a lower SKU count.

PAYMENT TO VENTURE PARTNER

Payment to JAKKS decreased slightly as a percentage of total net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 compared to the same twelve-month peri-

od last year, from 2.0% to 1.5%. The payment made to JAKKS is related to the joint license agreement that THQ and JAKKS obtained from WWE to devel-

op, manufacture, distribute, market and sell video games, as well as sublicense products pursuant to the license from the WWE. The decrease as a per-

centage of net sales is in direct relation to the decrease in WWE-related sales as a percentage of our total net sales. The payment to JAKKS in the fiscal

year ended March 31, 2004 was driven by the release of WWE SmackDown! Here Comes the Pain for PS2.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

General and administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 increased $10.2 million from the prior twelve-month period, from $36.8 mil-

lion to $47.0 million; however, they decreased as a percentage of net sales from 8% to 7%. Excluding the $7 million increase in our allowance for doubt-

ful accounts related to KB Toys’ filing of bankruptcy protection on January 14, 2004 general and administrative expenses declined to 6% in fiscal 2004. This

decrease is the result of our continued focus on building operating efficiencies and controlling costs.

INTEREST INCOME, NET

Net interest income decreased for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 as compared to the same period last year due to lower interest rates.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Other income for fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 consisted of a $4 million settlement of a dispute we had with our directors’ and officers’ insurance

carrier related to a previous securities litigation settlement. Other expenses for the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 included a $7 million charge

related to the settlement of a class action lawsuit and a $3.0 million non-cash charge related to the discontinuation of our online joint venture in the United

Kingdom (Network Interactive Sports, Ltd.). Additionally, the twelve months ended March 31, 2003 included a $1.8 million write-down of our long-term

investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd due to an other than temporary decline in the market value of the investment. (See Note 8 – Other Long-Term Assets.)

INCOME TAXES

The income tax provision of $19.4 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 reflects our effective income tax rate of  35%. The decrease in the

effective 42% tax rate from the twelve months ended March 31, 2003, is due primarily to a non-deductible capital loss related to the discontinuation of

our online joint venture in the United Kingdom in September 2002. The decrease in the rate from the prior estimate of 37% for the fiscal year ending

March 31, 2004 is due to an increase in the proportion of our profits earned in our international territories that have lower statutory income tax rates.

We expect our effective tax rate for fiscal year ending March 31, 2005 to be approximately 36%.



Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2002 to the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $13.0 million, or $0.32 per diluted share, on net sales of $480.5 million, as compared to net income

of $36.0 million, or $1.01 per diluted share, on net sales of $379.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Net income for the year ended

December 31, 2002 was negatively affected by the inclusion of the following special charges: (1) $7.9 million, net of tax for the cancellation of 20 SKUs;

(2) $4.6 million, net of tax related to the settlement of a class action lawsuit; (3) $1.1 million, net of tax related to the write-off of inventory and software

development for “WWF” –branded games that we had been prevented from shipping pursuant to an action by the World Wide Fund for Nature against

World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.; and (4) $2.8 million, net of tax related to the discontinuation of our online joint venture in the United Kingdom

(Network Interactive Sports, Ltd.). In addition to the special charges, net income in 2002 was negatively impacted due to an increase in software 

development amortization.

NET SALES

The following table sets forth our net sales by platform and net sales by platform as a percentage of net sales for the twelve months ended December 31,

2002 and 2001:

Net Sales for the Years Ended (In thousands):
December 31,

December 31, 2001 Increase/ %
Platform 2002 (Unaudited) (Decrease) Change

Consoles:

Sony PlayStation 2 $ 167,032 34.8% $ 110,642 29.2% $ 56,390 51.0%

Microsoft Xbox 34,143 7.1 5,111 1.4 29,032 568.0%

Nintendo Game Cube 49,004 10.2 - - 49,004 N/A

Sony PlayStation 37,270 7.8 60,340 15.9 (23,070) (38.2)%

Nintendo 64 277 0.1 17,097 4.5 (16,820) (98.4)%

287,726 60.0 193,190 51.0 94,536 48.9%

Handheld:

Nintendo Game Boy Color 26,185 5.4 62,569 16.5 (36,384) (58.2)%

Nintendo Game Boy Advance 119,614 24.9 83,830 22.1 35,784 42.7%

145,799 30.3 146,399 38.6 (600) 0.4%

PC CD-ROM 45,046 9.4 36,814 9.7 8,232 22.4%

Other 1,958 0.3 2,589 0.7 (631) (24.4)%

Net Sales $ 480,529 100.0% $ 378,992 100.0% $ 101,537 26.8%

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased 27% from the year ended December 31, 2001, from $379.0 million to $480.5 million. There

were several factors that affected the fiscal 2002 net sales performance. First, positively impacting net sales was an improvement in console sales, in total

dollars and as a percentage of net sales. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 for the console platforms: PS2, PS1, Xbox, GameCube, and N64,

increased 49% from the prior fiscal year, from $193.2 million to $287.7 million.
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CONSOLES

Sony PlayStation2 Net Sales 
Year ended December 31, % change

(In thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 167,032 34.8% $ 110,642 29.2% 51.0%

Net sales of video games for PS2 increased for the year ended December 31, 2002 due to the release of 12 new SKUs in 2002 as compared to five 

new SKUs in 2001. Net sales increased for the year ended December 31, 2002 primarily due to strong sales of Red Faction II, Scooby-Doo! Night of 100 

Frights, SpongeBob SquarePants: Revenge of the Flying Dutchman, Summoner 2 and WWE SmackDown! Shut Your Mouth. Key titles for PS2 released in

2001 included WWF SmackDown! “Just Bring It”, Red Faction and MX 2002 featuring Ricky Carmichael.

Sony PlayStation Net Sales

Year ended December 31, % change
(In thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 37,270 7.8% $ 60,340 15.9% (38.2)%

Net sales for PS1 decreased by $23.1 million in 2002 as compared to 2001. We did not release any new PS1 products in the year ended December 31,

2002, whereas we released ten SKUs in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Microsoft Xbox Net Sales

Year ended December 31, % change
(in thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 34,143 7.1% $ 5,111 1.4% 568.0%

We released our first two Xbox SKUs in the fourth quarter of 2001. Net sales for Xbox SKUs increased for the year ended December 31, 2002 by $29.0

million due to the release of seven SKUs in 2002, including MotoGP, Tetris Worlds and WWF Raw. The increase was also due to the higher installed base

of Xbox hardware in fiscal 2002 as compared to fiscal 2001.

Nintendo GameCube Net Sales 

Year ended December 31, % change
(In thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 49,004 10.2% — — N/A

The Nintendo GameCube platform launched in November 2001 and we did not have any releases for GameCube in the year 2001. Net sales for the year

ended December 31, 2002 included releases of eleven SKUs including Disney/Pixar’s Monsters, Inc .: Scream Arena, MX Superfly featuring Ricky

Carmichael, Rocket Power Beach Bandits , Scooby-Doo! Night of 100 Frights, SpongeBob SquarePants: Revenge of the Flying Dutchman and WWE

WrestleMania X8.

Nintendo 64 Net Sales

Year ended December 31, % change
(In thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 277 0.1% $ 17,097 4.5% (98.4)%

We did not release any new Nintendo 64 (“N64”) products in the year ended December 31, 2002. We released two N64 SKUs in the year ended December

31, 2001.



HANDHELD PLATFORMS

The second factor positively affecting net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 was an increase in sales for the Nintendo Game Boy Advance

(“GBA”), a handheld platform. Sales for GBA, increased 43%, from $83.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2001 to $119.6 million in 2002.

Nintendo Game Boy Advance Net Sales

Year ended December 31, % change
(in thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 119,614 24.9% $ 83,830 22.1% 42.7%

Net sales increased for the year ended December 31, 2002 due to strong sales of Scooby-Doo! The Movie, Sonic Advance, SpongeBob SquarePants: Revenge

of the Flying Dutchman and Star Wars Episode 2: Attack of the Clones. The increase was also due to the higher installed base of GBA hardware in 2002

compared to 2001. In total we released 31 GBA SKUs during 2002 compared to 15 GBA SKUs in 2001. Key titles released in 2001 included Disney/Pixar’s

Monsters, Inc ., Jimmy Neutron: Boy Genius, MX 2002 featuring Ricky Carmichael, Rocket Power : Dream Scheme, Rugrats: Castle Capers and Tetris Worlds.

Nintendo Game Boy Color Net Sales

Year ended December 31, % change
(in thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 26,185 5.4% $ 62,569 16.5% (58.2)%

We did not release any Game Boy Color products in the year ended December 31, 2002. We released 16 SKUs in the year 2001.

PC CD-ROMS

The third factor positively affecting net sales in the year ended December 31, 2002  was sales of PC CD-ROMs. Net sales for 2002 increased 22% from

the year ended December 31, 2001, from $36.8 million to $45.0 million.

PC CD-ROM Net Sales

Year ended December 31, % change
(in thousands) 2002 % of net sales 2001 % of net sales in net sales

$ 45,046 9.4% $ 36,814 9.7% 22.4%

Net sales increased for the year ended December 31, 2002 primarily due to releases of 52 PC SKUs, as compared to 13 PC SKUs released in 2001.

The increase in PC CD-ROM SKUs released and net sales in 2002 as compared to 2001 is attributed to our acquisition of ValuSoft in July 2002. Prices

for ValuSoft CD-ROMs are generally priced lower than the other SKUs we release. The increase in net sales for 2002 is a combination of increased 

volume of ValuSoft sales and other PC CD-ROM products.

SALES BY TERRITORY

The following table sets forth, for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, our net sales for the North America and international territories:

Net Sales for the Years Ended December 31, December 31, Increase / 
(In thousands) 2002 2001 (Decrease) % Change

North America $    358,124 $    262,676 $      95,448 36.3%

International 122,405 116,316 6,089 5.2%

Net Sales $    480,529 $  378,992 $    101,537 26.8%

North America Net Sales

North America net sales comprised 75% of our net sales in the fiscal year 2002 and 69% of net sales in fiscal 2001. Total net sales in North America

increased by 36% in fiscal 2002, from $262.7 million in fiscal 2001, to $358.1 million in fiscal 2002. The increase was primarily due to the significant increase

in the number of SKUs released domestically.
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International Net Sales

International net sales increased by 5% for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to 2001, from $116.3 million to $122.4 million. Net sales in all 

of the international territories, with the exception of France, increased slightly for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the same period of 2001.

• The more modest increase as compared to North America was primarily due to the launches of next generation hardware platforms occurring 

at later dates in foreign territories, resulting in a smaller installed base.

• Net sales in France declined by $3.6 million or 20% for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the same period of 2001. This decline

was due to lower demand for Red Faction II for PS2 and slower than anticipated growth of the GameCube installed base.

COSTS AND EXPENSES, NET INTEREST INCOME, OTHER EXPENSES AND INCOME TAXES

The following table sets forth information about our costs and expenses, net interest income, other expenses and income taxes for the periods indicated

as a percentage of total net sales:

Percent of Net Sales
Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 38.6% 40.9%

License amortization and royalties 8.4 8.7 

Software development amortization 17.4 9.3 

Product development 7.2 4.7 

Selling and marketing 13.8 12.3 

Payment to venture partner 2.1 2.3 

General and administrative 7.4 7.5 

Total costs and expenses 94.9 85.7 

Income from operations 5.1 14.3 

Interest income, net 1.1 0.7 

Other expenses (2.1 ) —  

Income before income taxes 4.1 15.0 

Income taxes 1.4 5.5 

Net income 2.7% 9.5%

Costs and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased over the prior twelve-month period, from $324.8 million to $456.0 million.

The largest component is the cost of sales, which consisted of $154.9 million in fiscal 2001 and $185.6 million in fiscal 2002. Software development 

amortization and selling and marketing expenses were the next largest components of costs and expenses.

COST OF SALES

Cost of sales represented 39% and 41% of net sales for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The primary factor that decreased the

cost of sales as a percentage of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 was a larger proportion of sales in fiscal 2002 of next generation console

games, which have lower manufacturing costs is a percentage of net sales than handheld games, as well as a reduction in the manufacturing costs for the

games for GBA in fiscal 2002.

LICENSE AMORTIZATION AND ROYALTIES

License amortization and royalties decreased slightly as a percentage of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to 2001. In absolute

dollars, license amortization and royalties for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased over the prior year, from $33.1 million to $40.5 million. The

decrease in this expense as a percentage of net sales was primarily due to (i) the sale of key titles in 2002 that had lower royalty rates than the titles that

were sold in 2001; and (ii) the sale of titles published by ValuSoft in 2002, which carry a lower mix of licensed PC CD-ROM products.



SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT AMORTIZATION

Software development amortization costs increased from $35.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2001 to $83.7 million in 2002, and also increased

as a percentage of net sales, from 9% in 2001 to 17% in 2002. The $48.6 million increase includes a write-off of approximately $11.5 million for the 

discontinued product development of 20 SKUs which were determined to be not marketable. The increase is also due to lower sales during the fourth

quarter of 2002 and the increased percentage of next generation console games sold during 2002, as compared to 2001, which have longer development

cycles and higher development costs than handheld games.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Product development expenses increased as a percentage of net sales from 5% for the year ended December 31, 2001 to 7% for the fiscal year 2002, an

increase of $17.0 million. The increase in product development expenses is primarily due to the costs incurred by the three development studios acquired

or formed during fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2002: Rainbow, Outrage and Cranky Pants. We also increased the number of personnel in 2002 in our corporate

product development department to support the increased number of SKUs under development.

SELLING AND MARKETING

Selling and marketing expenses of $66.4 million and $46.7 million represented 14% and 12% of net sales for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,

respectively. The increase of $19.7 million was primarily due to an increase in television media expenditures for a greater number of SKUs in 2002 as

compared to 2001.

PAYMENT TO VENTURE PARTNER

The payment to JAKKS remained relatively constant as a percentage of total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the same

period of 2001. The payment of $10.1 million to JAKKS in 2002 primarily related to WWE SmackDown! Shut Your Mouth!, while the payment of $8.7 

million in 2001 primarily related to WWF SmackDown! Just Bring It.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased $6.5 million from the prior year, from $28.5 million to $35.0 million;

however, as a percentage of net sales remained relatively consistent, at 7% in both years. The $6.5 million increase in fiscal 2002 was due to an increase in

the allowance for doubtful accounts related to the Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing of Kmart, and the inclusion of ValuSoft’s general and administrative expenses.

INTEREST INCOME, NET

Net interest income increased for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to 2001 as a result of higher average cash, cash equivalents and short-

term investment balances which increased as a result of our public offering of our common stock in November 2001.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 include a $7.0 million charge related to the settlement of the class action lawsuit. This consisted

of $2.0 million for the portion of the settlement and legal fees that exceeded our directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage and $5.0 million as a reserve

against a receivable from our insurer due to a dispute in the amount of coverage. Other expenses also included a $3.0 million non-cash charge related to

the discontinuation of our online joint venture in the United Kingdom (Network Interactive Sports, Ltd.).

INCOME TAXES

The income tax provision of $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 reflected our effective income tax rate of 34%, as compared to income

taxes of $20.7 million in 2001, or an effective rate of 37%. The decrease in the effective tax rate was due primarily to tax benefits related to our 

international business activities.

46:47T H Q  : 2 0 0 4  : A N N UA L  R E P O RT



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our total assets as of March 31, 2004 were $527.2 million, as compared to $472.9 million as of March 31, 2003. Of the total assets at March 31, 2004,

$397.1 million were current assets, with $253.0 million of this amount in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Our principal source of cash

is from sales of our packaged software for video game consoles, handheld game platforms, personal computers and wireless devices. Our principal uses

of cash are product purchases of discs and cartridges, payments to developers, the costs of internal software development, selling and marketing expens-

es, and payments to licensors. In order to purchase products from the manufacturers, we typically obtain a line of credit from the manufacturers, open let-

ters of credit in their favor or make prepayments for the product. At March 31, 2004, our total current liabilities were $87.4 million, which consisted pri-

marily of $41.3 million in accrued royalties, $22.4 million in accrued expenses and $22.1 million in accounts payable.

Cash and cash equivalents increased in fiscal 2004 by $47.4 million. This included $71.2 million provided by operating activities and $4.1 million increase

of cash due to favorable exchange rates, offset by $24.0 million used in investing activities and $3.9 million used in financing activities. In the twelve-month

period ended March 31, 2003, cash and cash equivalents increased by $12.4 million. This included $19.9 million provided by operating activities and $19.1

million provided by investing activities, offset by $26.9 million used in financing activities. The $51.3 million increase to cash flows provided by operating

activities in fiscal 2004, as compared to the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, was primarily due to favorable operating results, favorable amor-

tization on licenses and software development, favorable accrued royalties partially offset by unfavorable increase in accounts receivable which declined

and was a source of cash in the twelve months ended March 31, 2003.

We spent approximately $24.1 million in fiscal 2004 and $19.4 million in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, respectively, in connection with

the execution of 19 and 20 new license agreements, respectively, granting us rights to intellectual property of third parties. We used approximately $80.8

million to fund software development of approximately 176 SKUs during fiscal 2004 and used approximately $76.9 million to fund development of approxi-

mately 224 SKUs during the twelve months ended March 31, 2003. We expect that we will continue to make significant expenditures in fiscal 2005 relating

to our investment in software development and intellectual property licenses.

The cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2004 was primarily attributable to purchases of short-term investments and long-term marketable 

securities. In the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003, investing activities provided $19.1 million in cash primarily due to proceeds from sales and

maturities of short-term investments. We believe that we have significant working capital ($309.6 million at March 31, 2004) to finance our operational

requirements; including our investments made in Relic ($6 million) and Minick ($10.5 million) in April 2004.

Cash used in financing activities consisted of $11.0 million used to repurchase 709,000 shares of our common stock during fiscal 2004 and $32.8 million

to repurchase 2,240,000 shares in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2003. Between September 10, 2002 and February 5, 2004, our Board of

Directors authorized the repurchases of up to $75 million of our common stock. As of March 31, 2004, we had repurchased 2,949,000 shares of our com-

mon stock for $43.8 million at an average cost of $14.85 per share, leaving $31.2 million available for future repurchases.

Cybiko Claim. We received a demand from Motorola for indemnification related to certain wireless games distributed in France. The demand arises out

of litigation commenced in France against Motorola and their distribution partners for trademark infringement and unfair competition, which seeks $10.0

million in damages plus an unspecified amount and an accounting. Although we expect to prevail, at this early stage we cannot predict the likely outcome

of the demand for indemnification.

Guarantees and Commitments. In the normal course of business, we enter into contractual arrangements with third parties for the rights to intellectual

property and for the development of products. Under these agreements, we commit to provide specified payments to an intellectual property holder 

or developer, based upon contractual arrangements. Assuming all contractual provisions are met, the total future minimum contract commitment for 

contracts in place as of March 31, 2004 is approximately $113.8 million.

In addition, we have advertising commitments under most of our major license agreements. These minimum commitments generally range from 2% to 

12% of net sales related to the respective license. We estimate that our minimum commitment for advertising in fiscal year 2005 will be $24.1 million.

We also have various operating lease commitments of $27.5 million expiring at various times through 2014. As of March 31, 2004, we had approximately

$3.1 million in obligations under our credit facilities with respect to outstanding letters of credit. We also have a commitment for $1.6 million under 

a sponsorship agreement contingent upon certain events, the occurrence of which will require us to make payments over the next year.



A summary of minimum contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of March 31, 2004 (in thousands), are as follows:

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Software
Development

License Milestone Letters of
Fiscal Years Ended March 31, Guarantees Payments Advertising Leases Credit Other Total

2005 $ 26,333 $ 59,408 $ 24,143 $ 4,951 $ 3,125 $ 1,583 $ 119,543

2006 22,843 701 10,203 4,751 — — 38,498

2007 4,520 — 2,856 3,363 — — 10,739

2008 —      — 2,105 3,260 — — 5,365 

2009 — — 500 2,881 — — 3,381

Thereafter — —              1,500 8,307 — — 9,807

$     53,696 $     60,109 $      41,307 $ 27,513 $      3,125 $   1,583 $   187,333

On February 27, 2003, we entered into a lease agreement with an entity partially owned by the head of one of our development studios. The lease is for

approximately 29,000 square feet of office space which is occupied by the development studio in Champaign, Illinois.

Warrants. We are committed under a license agreement to issue a warrant to purchase a total of 160,000 shares of common stock at $20.23 per share.

We have estimated the fair value based on current negotiations as we have shipped product related to this license agreement and thus the estimated fair

value is being amortized to license amortization and royalties over estimated sales for games that have been released. We will adjust our estimated fair

value and the related amortization when the warrant terms are finalized.

Manufacturer Indemnification. We must indemnify the manufacturers with respect to all loss, liability and expense resulting from any claim against the

manufacturer involving the development, marketing, sale or use of our games, including any claims for copyright or trademark infringement brought against

the manufacturer. As a result, we bear a risk that the properties upon which the titles are based, or that the information and technology licensed 

from others and incorporated in the products, may infringe the rights of third parties. Our agreements with our independent software developers and

property licensors typically provide for us to be indemnified with respect to certain matters. If any claim is brought by a manufacturer against us for

indemnification, however, our developers or licensors may not have sufficient resources to in turn, indemnify us. Furthermore, these parties’ indemnifica-

tion of us may not cover the matter that gives rise to the manufacturer’s claim.

Credit Facility. We have a credit facility that allows us to maintain outstanding letters of credit up to $20.0 million. The credit facility is secured by a lien

on substantially all of our assets and contains customary financial and non-financial covenants which require us to maintain specified operating profits and

liquidity and limits our ability to incur additional indebtedness, sell assets, pay cash dividends and enter into certain mergers or acquisitions. As of March

31, 2004, we were in compliance with all the covenants under the credit facility. Amounts outstanding under the credit facility bear interest, at our choice,

at either (a) the bank’s prime rate (4.0% at March 31, 2004) or (b) the London Interbank Offered Rate (1.4% at March 31, 2004) plus 1.60%. As of March

31, 2004, we had outstanding letters of credit of approximately $3.1 million.

Inflation

Our management currently believes that inflation has not had a material impact on continuing operations.

Accordingly, we believe that our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term marketable securities, funds provided by operations and our

borrowing capacity will be adequate to meet our anticipated requirements, on both a short-term and long-term basis, for operating expenses, product

purchases and payments for licenses and software development.
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RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to many risks and uncertainties which may affect our future financial performance. Some of those important risks and uncertainties

which may cause our operating results to vary or which may materially and adversely affect our operating results are as follows:

•  We must continue to develop and sell new titles in order to remain profitable.

• Our inability to identify, license and renew properties upon which our products are based, or properties we license, could harm us.

• We rely on a relatively small number of brands for a significant portion of our net sales.

• We rely on a small number of customers that account for a significant amount of our sales.

• We depend on platform manufacturers’ approvals to continue developing and marketing console titles.

• Unexpected declines in the popularity of platforms could have a negative effect on consumer demand for titles, which could have a material

adverse effect on us.

• If we needed to write down licenses or software development costs below the current recorded value, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

• We rely on external developers for the development of many of our titles.

• Increased foreign operations subject us to different business, political and economic risks.

• Unauthorized use of our intellectual property licenses could harm us

• Defects in our game software could harm our reputation or decrease the market acceptance of our products.

• Competition may lead to reduced sales of our products, reduced profits and reduced market share.

For a discussion of these and other important risk factors, see the heading “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2004.



We are exposed to certain market risks arising from transactions in the normal course of business, principally risk associated with interest rate and 

foreign currency fluctuations.

INTEREST RATE RISK

We have interest rate risk primarily related to our investment portfolio. A substantial portion of our portfolio is in short-term investments made up 

of floating rate corporate notes and municipal securities. The value of these investments may fluctuate with changes in interest rates. However, we believe

this risk is immaterial due to the short-term nature of the investments. The credit facility is based on variable interest rates. At March 31, 2004, we had

outstanding letters of credit of $3.1 million.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

We transact business in many different foreign currencies and may be exposed to financial market risk resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency

exchange rates, particularly the GBP and the Euro, which may result in a gain or loss of earnings to us. The volatility of the GBP and the Euro (and all

other applicable currencies) is monitored frequently throughout the year. We face two risks related to foreign currency exchange: translation risk and

transaction risk.Amounts invested in our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.The

resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the stockholders' equity section of

the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our foreign subsidiaries generally collect revenues and pay expenses in currencies other than the United States 

dollar. Since the functional currencies of our foreign operations are generally denominated in the local currency of our subsidiaries, the foreign currency

translation adjustments are reflected as a component of stockholders' equity and do not impact operating results. Revenues and expenses in foreign 

currencies translate into higher or lower revenues and expenses in U.S. dollars as the U.S. dollar weakens or strengthens against other currencies.

Therefore, changes in exchange rates may negatively affect our consolidated revenues and expenses (as expressed in U.S. dollars) from foreign operations.

Currency transaction gains or losses arising from transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are included within General and

Administrative expense within the Consolidated Statements of Operations.While we have not engaged in foreign currency hedging, we may in the future

use hedging programs, currency forward contracts, currency options and/or other derivative financial instruments commonly utilized to reduce financial

market risks if it is determined that such hedging activities are appropriate to reduce risk.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK
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To the Stockholders of THQ Inc.,

Calabasas Hills, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of THQ Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2004 and 2003 and

December 31, 2002 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004,

three months ended March 31, 2003 and each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility

of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2004 and

2003 and December 31, 2002 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, three months ended March 31, 2003

and each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets” effective January 1, 2002.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Los Angeles, California

June 14, 2004

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM



March 31, December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 247,237 $ 199,860 $ 132,898 

Short-term investments 5,802 16,151 53,951 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 253,039 216,011 186,849 

Accounts receivable, net of allowances 59,088 35,976 146,508 

Inventory 22,303 24,339 24,362 

Licenses 13,172 15,330 15,897 

Software development 39,997 54,824 45,633 

Deferred income taxes — —     1,334 

Income taxes receivable — 1,116    —

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,451 11,316 12,092 

Total current assets 397,050 358,912 432,675 

Property and equipment, net 17,468 16,408 16,103 

Licenses, net of current portion 9,068 20,053 19,525 

Software development, net of current portion 9,798 2,640 1,785 

Deferred income taxes, net of current portion 560 8,346 —

Goodwill, net 59,399 58,609 58,609 

Long-term marketable securities 24,320 — —

Other long-term assets, net 9,488 7,981 9,163 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 527,151 $ 472,949 $ 537,860 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $  22,147 $  21,001 $   41,148 

Accrued expenses 22,361 20,090 32,548 

Accrued payment to venture partner 746 676 5,845 

Accrued royalties 41,305 22,893 30,215 

Income taxes payable 216 — 2,331 

Deferred income taxes 642 7,353 —

Total current liabilities 87,417 72,013 112,087 

Accrued royalties, net of current portion 1,142 4,523 15,373 

Deferred income taxes — — 1,534 

Commitments and contingencies — — —

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, par value $.01, 1,000,000 shares authorized — — —

Common stock, par value $.01, 75,000,000 shares authorized; 38,166,978

38,007,879 and 38,416,002 shares issued and outstanding 

as of March 31, 2004 and 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively 382 380 384 

Additional paid-in capital 304,860 305,328 310,963 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 8,302 1,496 624 

Retained earnings 125,048 89,209 96,895 

Total stockholders’ equity 438,592 396,413 408,866 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 527,151 $ 472,949 $ 537,860 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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Year Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net sales $ 640,846 $    66,800 $  480,529 $  378,992 

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 229,218 26,378 185,593 154,898 

License amortization and royalties 71,132 5,576 40,476 33,144 

Software development amortization 105,632 12,018 83,698 35,144 

Product development 36,850 8,899 34,696 17,774 

Selling and marketing 92,475 14,294 66,443 46,745 

Payment to venture partner 9,675 644 10,146 8,673 

General and administrative 47,006 8,442 34,993 28,470 

Total costs and expenses 591,988 76,251 456,045 324,848 

Income (loss) from operations 48,858 (9,451) 24,484 54,144 

Interest income, net 2,378 878 5,277 2,572 

Other income (expense) 4,000 (2,403) (10,006) — 

Income (loss) before income taxes 55,236 (10,976) 19,755 56,716 

Income taxes 19,397 (3,290) 6,761 20,703 

Net income (loss) $   35,839 $    (7,686) $    12,994 $    36,013 

Net income (loss) per share — basic $        0.94 $      (0.20) $       0.33 $       1.10 

Net income (loss) per share — diluted $        0.92 $     (0.20) $        0.32 $       1.01 

Shares used in per share calculation — basic 38,186 38,319 39,203 32,717 

Shares used in per share calculation — diluted 39,004 38,319 41,243 35,623 

THQ INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 and Three Months Ended March 31, 2003 and Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004
Accumulated

Other
Common Common Additional Comprehensive Retained

(In thousands, except per share data) Shares Stock Paid-in Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total

Balance at January 1, 2001 30,690,807 307 85,645 (1,715) 47,888 132,125

Exercise of warrants and options 2,405,413 24 16,697 — — 16,721

Issuance of common stock from secondary offering 4,596,222 46 154,559 — — 154,605

Issuance of common stock for Rainbow acquisition 1,287,305 13 48,635 — — 48,648

Stock compensation — — 299 — — 299

Tax benefit related to the exercise of employee stock options — — 10,923 — — 10,923

Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — 36,013 36,013

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — (703) — (703)

Unrealized gain on investments — — — 231 — 231

Comprehensive income — — — — — 35,541

Balance at December 31, 2001 38,979,747 $     390 $  316,758 $   (2,187) $   83,901 $ 398,862

THQ INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 and Three Months Ended March 31, 2003 and Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004
Accumulated

Other
Common Common Additional Comprehensive Retained

(In thousands, except per share data) Shares Stock Paid-in Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total

Balance at January 1, 2002 38,979,747 $     390 $  316,758 $ (2,187) $    83,901 $  398,862

Exercise of options 932,234 9 7,741 — — 7,750

Issuance of common stock for ValuSoft acquisition 166,600 2 4,626 — — 4,628

Issuance of warrants — — 1,214 — — 1,214

Repurchase of common stock (1,671,531) (17) (24,988) — — (25,005)

Adjustments related to 2001 secondary offering — — 52 — — 52

Stock compensation 8,952 — 436 — — 436

Tax benefit related to the exercise of employee stock options — — 5,124 — — 5,124

Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — 12,994 12,994

Other comprehensive income — — — — —

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — 4,318 — 4,318

Unrealized loss on investments — — — (1,507) — (1,507)

Comprehensive income 15,805

Balance at January 1, 2003 38,416,002 384 310,963 624 96,895 408,866

Exercise of options 144,411 2 1,406 — — 1,408

Tax benefit related to the exercise of employee stock options — — 181 — — 181

Repurchase of common stock (568,307) (6) (7,752) — — (7,758)

Stock compensation 15,773 — 530 — — 530

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss — — — — (7,686) (7,686)

Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — (404) — (404)

Unrealized loss on investments (1,127) (1,127)

Reclassification adjustment for net losses 

included in net income — — — 2,403 — 2,403

Comprehensive loss — (6,814)

Balance at March 31, 2003 38,007,879 $   380 $   305,328 $     1,496 $   89,209 $ 396,413

THQ INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont’d)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 and Three Months Ended March 31, 2003 and Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004
Accumulated

Other
Common Common Additional Comprehensive Retained

(In thousands, except per share data) Shares Stock Paid-in Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total

Balance at April 1, 2003 38,007,879 $     380 $   305,328 $    1,496 $   89,209 $ 396,413

Exercise of options 868,190 9 7,112 — — 7,121

Issuance of warrants — — 956 — — 956

Repurchase of common stock (709,091) (7) (10,987) — — (10,994)

Stock compensation — — 84 — — 84

Tax benefit related to the exercise of employee stock options — — 2,367 — — 2,367

Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — 35,839 35,839

Other comprehensive income — — — — — —

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — 5,431 — 5,431

Unrealized gain on investments — — — 1,375 — 1,375

Comprehensive income 42,645

Balance at March 31, 2004 38,166,978 382 304,860 8,302 125,048 438,592

THQ INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont’d)
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Year Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) $    35,839 $    (7,686) $    12,994 $   36,013 

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net 

cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 7,227 1,956 6,385 5,416

Amortization of licenses and software development 126,686 13,323 91,677 35,335

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 258 — 137 117

Stock compensation 84 530 436 299

Tax benefit related to the exercise of employee stock options 2,367 181 5,124 10,923

Deferred income taxes 2,464 (1,180) (730) 11,338

Other than temporary impairment on investments — 2,403 — —

Write-off of Network Interactive Sports Ltd. — — 3,006 —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net (21,766) 111,022 (15,371) (9,709)

Inventory 3,427 233 (12,112) 743

Licenses (24,072) (4,027) (33,918) (22,596)

Software development (80,803) (19,305) (75,049) (53,095)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,318 771 (2,101) (2,901)

Accounts payable (343) (20,374) 11,067 5,517

Accrued expenses 970 (12,543) 14,203 (1,171)

Accrued payment to venture partner 70 (5,169) (626) (3,026)

Accrued royalties 15,012 (18,181) 8,834 6,952

Income taxes 1,416 (3,479) 2,374 (6,336)

Net cash provided by operating activities 71,154 38,475 16,330 33,237

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities:

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment — — — 65

Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments 42,500 65,019 90,732 —

Purchases of short-term investments (32,155) (28,809) (110,072) (35,124)

Acquisition of property and equipment (7,638) (2,099) (7,794) (5,750)

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,300) — (9,373) —

Investment in Network Interactive Sports Ltd. — — (221) (3,325)

Purchases of long-term marketable securities (24,320) — — —

(Increase) decrease in other long-term assets (70) 1,510 (1,422) 50

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (23,983) 35,621 (38,150) (44,084)

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:

Net decrease in short-term borrowings — — — (15,473)

Repurchase of common stock (10,994) (7,758) (25,005) —

Principal payments on long-term debt — — — (1,806)

Proceeds from issuance of common stock — — 52 154,605

Proceeds from exercise of warrants and options 7,121 1,408 7,750 16,721

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (3,873) (6,350) (17,203) 154,047

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 4,079 (784) 862 (139)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 47,377 66,962 (38,161) 143,061

Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period 199,860 132,898 171,059 27,998

Cash and cash equivalents — end of period $  247,237 $  199,860 $  132,898 $  171,059

THQ INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



Year Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001

Cash paid during the period for:

Income taxes $      15,625 $      2,616 $      3,257 $     8,204

Interest $          144 $           11 $           76 $          74

On March 31, 2004, an adjustment to Goodwill of $1.5 million was recorded. This was based on the determination for future realization of previously

acquired Net Operating Losses related to the acquisition of our German subsidiary.

On July 1, 2002, we paid $9.6 million in cash and issued approximately 167,000 shares of common stock as part of the purchase price of the assets of

ValuSoft, Inc. (now referred to as “ValuSoft”), a publisher and developer of value-priced interactive entertainment and productivity software. The issuance

increased common stock and additional paid-in-capital by $2,000 and $4.6 million respectively, and was allocated among the assets acquired. In addition,

the former shareholders of ValuSoft, Inc. are entitled to additional consideration of up to $11.0 million if ValuSoft reaches certain pre-tax income targets

in the five years following July 1, 2002. The annual payments of the additional consideration, if any, range from $1.0 million to $2.8 million per year and

may be paid, at our discretion, in cash or shares of our common stock and will be added to goodwill. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2003,ValuSoft

reached its pretax target and we have paid $2.3 million in cash and adjusted goodwill accordingly. (See Note 3)

Estimated Fair Value (in thousands):

Tangible assets acquired $      2,837 

Software development acquired 1,491 

Licenses acquired 1,109 

Liabilities assumed (2,940)

Goodwill 14,342 

Purchase price $    16,839 

On December 21, 2001, we issued approximately 1,287,000 shares of common stock and assumed approximately 159,000 stock options as part of the pur-

chase price of Rainbow Multimedia Group, Inc. The issuance increased common stock and additional paid-in-capital by $13,000 and $48.6 million respec-

tively, and was allocated among the assets acquired.

Estimated Fair Value (in thousands):

Tangible assets acquired $      5,838 

Intangible assets acquired 3,531 

Liabilities assumed (5,411)

Goodwill 44,972 

Purchase price $    48,930 

On June 8, 2001,World Wrestling Federation Entertainment exchanged all of its warrants for 302,490 shares of common stock in a non-cash transaction.

On July 23, 2001, Stanley Shenker Associates, Inc. (a related party to the World Wrestling Federation Entertainment) exchanged all of its warrants for 37,923

shares of common stock in a non-cash transaction.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Business. THQ Inc., a Delaware corporation, is a leading global developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software for the major hardware plat-

forms in the video game market. We currently develop and publish titles primarily for Sony PlayStation 2, Microsoft Xbox, Nintendo GameCube, Nintendo

Game Boy Advance, personal computers (“PCs”) and wireless devices. Our titles span most major interactive entertainment software genres, including action,

adventure, children’s, driving, fighting, puzzle, role playing, simulation, sports and strategy. Our customers include Wal-Mart,Toys “R” Us,Target, Best Buy, Game

Stop, Electronics Boutique, KB Toys, Game Stores Group Ltd and other national and regional retailers, discount store chains and specialty retailers.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this document to “THQ” or the “Company” include THQ Inc. and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Fiscal Year. Effective January 1, 2003, we changed our fiscal year end from December 31 to March 31. Accordingly, the transitional period ended March

31, 2003 (Transition 2003) represents three months of operations. The comparison for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 (unaudited) is

included in Note 16.

Platform License Agreements.

Sony. We have three license agreements with Sony pursuant to which we have the non-exclusive right to utilize the Sony name, related trademarks, and

its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market software for use with the 128-bit Sony PlayStation 2. The license agreement

for the United States and Canada expires in March 2005 (subject to automatic annual renewal unless either party terminates the agreement by January 31

of the applicable year); the license agreement for Europe, Australia, New Zealand, certain countries in Africa and the Middle East expires in March 2005

(subject to automatic renewal unless either party terminates the agreement by February 28 of the applicable year); and the license agreement for Korea

expires in March 2006. We also have two license agreements with Sony pursuant to which we have the non-exclusive right to utilize the Sony name, relat-

ed trademarks, and its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market software for use with the 32-bit Sony PlayStation. The

license agreement for the United States, Canada, Mexico and Latin America expires in August 2006; and the license agreement for Europe, Australia and

New Zealand expires in December 2005.

Nintendo. We have a license agreement with Nintendo pursuant to which we have the non-exclusive right to utilize the Nintendo name, related trade-

marks, and its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market software for use with the Game Boy Advance handheld 

game console in all countries in the Western Hemisphere which expires in July 2004 and a license agreement for Europe, Australia and New Zealand which

expires in April 2006. We have a license agreement with Nintendo pursuant to which we have the non-exclusive right to utilize the Nintendo name, related

trademarks, and its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market software for use with the 128-bit Nintendo GameCube in all

countries in the Western Hemisphere which expires in April 2005 and a license agreement for Europe, Australia and New Zealand which expires in April

2006. We also have a license agreement with Nintendo pursuant to which we have the non-exclusive right to utilize the Nintendo name, related trade-

marks, and its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market software for use with the Game Boy Color handheld game console

in all countries in the Western Hemisphere which expires in March 2006. We also have a license agreement with Nintendo pursuant to which we have 

the non-exclusive right to utilize the Nintendo name, related trademarks, and its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market

software for use with the Game Boy Color handheld game console in Europe,Australia and New Zealand which expires in October 2005.

Microsoft. We have a license agreement with Microsoft pursuant to which we have the non-exclusive right to utilize the Microsoft name, related trade-

marks, and its proprietary information and technology in order to develop and market software for use with the 128-bit Microsoft Xbox, which expires in

November 2004. The territory is determined on a title-by-title basis.

Our business is dependent on these license agreements with Sony, Nintendo and Microsoft. Substantially all of our products are manufactured by Sony,

Nintendo and Microsoft authorized vendors who charge us an amount for each disc-based product or cartridge manufactured. This charge includes a 

manufacturing, printing and packaging fee as well as a royalty for the use of their respective names, proprietary information and technology.

In addition, we must indemnify Sony, Nintendo and Microsoft, as appropriate, with respect to all loss, liability and expense resulting from any claim against

Sony, Nintendo and Microsoft involving the development, marketing, sale or use of our titles, including any claims for copyright or trademark infringement

brought against Sony, Nintendo and Microsoft. As such, we bear the risk that the properties and information and technology licensed from Sony, Nintendo

and Microsoft and incorporated in the software may infringe the rights of third parties. Generally, we are entitled to indemnification from our software

developers and property licensors to cover our indemnification obligations to Sony, Nintendo and Microsoft but no assurance can be given that, if any claim

is brought against us, the developers and/or licensors will have sufficient resources to indemnify us.

THQ INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of THQ Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. Investments in

business entities in which we do not have control, but have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies (generally 

20-50% ownership), are accounted for by the equity method. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Foreign Currency Translation. Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at current rates of exchange while results of operations are trans-

lated at average rates in effect for the period. Translation gains or losses are shown as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss). The translation gain (loss) on long-term intercompany balances included in the foreign currency translation was $2.3 million for the fiscal year ended

March 31, 2004. The translation gain (loss) on long-term intercompany balances included in the foreign currency translation was ($0.4) million, $1.8 mil-

lion and ($0.6) million for the Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Foreign currency transaction gains and loss-

es result from exchange rate changes for transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. For the fiscal year ended March 31,

2004 foreign currency transaction gain was $1.4 million and is included in general and administrative expenses. For the Transition 2003 and years ended

December 31, 2002 and 2001 foreign currency transaction gains (losses) were not material.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short-Term Investments, and Long-Term Marketable Securities

March 31, December 31,
(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Cash and cash equivalents $   247,237 $    199,860 $   132,898 

Short-term investments

Available for sale — 12,143 44,940 

Held to maturity 5,802 4,008 9,011

Short-term investments 5,802 16,151 53,951 

Long-term marketable securities 24,320 — —

Cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term marketable securities $   277,359 $    216,011 $    186,849 

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with maturities less than three months to be cash equivalents.

Investments with a maturity greater than three months, but less than one year, at the time of purchase are considered to be short-term investments.

We invest in highly liquid debt instruments with strong credit ratings. The carrying amounts of the investments approximate fair value due to their short

maturities. Unrealized gains and (losses) are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for investments 

classified as available-for-sale. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 there were no unrealized gains or (losses) on available-for-sale investments, except

our investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd. (Yuke’s) which is included in our other long-term assets in the accompanying balance sheet. See Note 8.

At March 31, 2003 we reclassified $556,000 of unrealized losses to net income (loss). The unrealized gains and (losses) on the investments in securities

for the Transition 2003 and years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, were $44,000, ($492,000) and ($20,000), respectively. See Note 8 for disclosure

of activity related to Yuke’s.
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Short-term investments and long-term marketable securities at March 31, 2004 and 2003 and December 31, 2002 were as follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized Holding Holding Fair
(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-sale:

MARCH 31, 2004

Corporate notes and bonds $           — $           —  $           —  $          —

U.S. government and agencies — —  —  — 

Total available-for-sale investments $           — $           — $           — $           —

MARCH 31, 2003

Corporate notes and bonds $    6,346 $           —  $           —  $     6,346 

U.S. government and agencies 5,797 —  —  5,797 

Total available-for-sale investments $  12,143 $           — $           — $   12,143

DECEMBER 31, 2002

Corporate notes and bonds $   22,953 $           —  $      (259) $    22,694 

U.S. government and agencies 22,499 —  (253) 22,246 

Total available-for-sale investments $    45,452 $           — $      (512) $   44,940 

Held-to-maturity (current):
MARCH 31, 2004

Corporate debt securities $    4,800 $         — $           — $    4,800 

Municipal securities 1,002 — — 1,002 

Total current held-to-maturity investments $    5,802 $          — $        — $    5,802 

MARCH 31, 2003

Municipal securities $      4,008 $           —  $         —  $      4,008 

Total held-to-maturity investments $      4,008 $           — $           — $     4,008 

DECEMBER 31, 2002

Corporate debt securities $     5,000 $          —  $         —  $      5,000 

Municipal securities 4,011 —  —  4,011 

Total held-to-maturity investments $      9,011 $          —  $           —  $     9,011 

Held-to-maturity (long-term):

MARCH 31, 2004

Municipal securities $      24,320 $          —  $           —  $    24,320 

Total long-term held-to-maturity investments $      24,320 $           — $           — $   24,320 

During the current year we acquired municipal bonds with maturities of greater than one year for $24.3 million. These bonds are classified as held to

maturity. Investments with a maturity greater than one year, at the time of purchase are considered to be long-term assets. Our long-term marketable

securities have a maturity due date of 1-2 years as of March 31, 2004.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments. The carrying value of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments held

to maturity, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and accrued royalties approximate fair market value based on their short–term nature.

Short-term investments classified as available for sale are stated at fair value. The value of short-term investments and long-term marketable securities are

determined using quoted market prices.



Concentrations of Credit Risk. Financial instruments which potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equiv-

alents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and long-term marketable securities. We place cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

with high credit-quality institutions and limit the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. We believe this risk is immaterial due to the short-term

nature of such investments. We place our long-term marketable securities with high credit-quality institutions and limit the amount of credit exposure to

any one institution. Most of our sales are made directly to mass merchandisers and national retailers. Due to the increased volume of sales to these chan-

nels, we have experienced an increased concentration of credit risk, and as a result, may maintain individually significant receivable balances with such mass

merchandisers and national retailers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and maintain an allowance for potential credit losses.

Sales (before returns and allowances) to a major customer represented 19%, 25%, 16% and 14% of gross sales in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004,

Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002, and 2001, respectively. This customer accounted for approximately 37%, 38% and 17% of accounts

receivable at March 31, 2004 and 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. Sales (before returns and allowances) to another major customer represented

7%, 11%, 13% and 12% of gross sales in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004,Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respec-

tively. This customer accounted for approximately 23%, 39% and 16% of accounts receivable at March 31, 2004 and 2003, and December 31, 2002.

Inventory. Inventory, which consists principally of finished products, are stated at the lower of cost (moving weighted average) or market. We estimate

the net realizable value of slow-moving inventory on a title by title basis, and charge the excess of cost over net realizable value to cost of sales.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated 

useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their useful lives or the remaining lease term. Property and 

equipment consist of the following:

March 31, December 31,
(in thousands) Useful Lives 2004 2003 2002

Building 30 yrs $          719 $         719 $        719 

Land — 401 401 401 

Computer equipment and software 3-10 yrs 31,111 24,795 23,138 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 yrs 3,960 3,535 3,375 

Leasehold improvements 3-6 yrs 2,422 1,576 1,443 

Automobiles 2-5 yrs 153 121 74 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (21,298) (14,739) (13,047)

$     17,468 $     16,408 $      16,103 

Licenses. Minimum guaranteed royalty payments for intellectual property licenses are initially recorded as an asset (licenses) and as a liability (accrued roy-

alties) at the contractual amount upon execution of the contract when no significant performance remains with the licensor. When significant perform-

ance remains with the licensor, we record royalty payments as an asset (licenses) when actually paid rather than upon execution of the contract. Royalty

payments for intellectual property licenses are classified as current assets and current liabilities to the extent such royalty payments relate to anticipated

sales during the subsequent year and long-term assets and long-term liabilities if such royalty payments relate to anticipated sales after one year.

Licenses are expensed to license amortization and royalties at the higher of (i) the contractual royalty rate based on actual net product sales or (ii) the

ratio of current units sold to total projected units sold. When, in management’s estimate, future cash flows will not be sufficient to recover previously cap-

italized costs, we expense these capitalized costs to license amortization and royalties. See – “Long-Lived Assets” below. If actual revenues, or revised fore-

casted units, fall below the initial forecasted units, the charge to license amortization and royalties may be larger than anticipated in any given quarter. As

of March 31, 2004, the net carrying value of our licenses was $22.2 million.

Software Development. We utilize both independent software developers and internal development teams to develop our software. We account for soft-

ware development costs in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86,“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software

to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.”  We capitalize software development costs once technological feasibility is established and we determine that

such costs are recoverable against future revenues. For products where proven game engine technology exists, this may occur early in the development

cycle. We capitalize the milestone payments made to independent software developers and the direct payroll costs for our internal development teams.

We evaluate technological feasibility on a product-by-product basis. Amounts related to software development for which technological feasibility is not yet

met are charged immediately to product development expense.
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Capitalized software development is expensed to software development amortization at the higher of (i) the contractual rate based on actual net product

sales or (ii) the ratio of current units sold to total projected units sold. When, in management’s estimate, future cash flows will not be sufficient to recov-

er previously capitalized costs, we expense these items to software development amortization. See – “Long-Lived Assets” below. If actual revenues, or

revised forecasted units, fall below the initial forecasted units, the charge to software development amortization may be larger than anticipated in any given

quarter. As of March 31, 2004, the net carrying value of our software development was $49.8 million.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In accordance with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, on January 1, 2002, we

ceased amortizing goodwill. According to our accounting policy, we performed an annual review during the quarter ended June 30, 2003, and found no

impairment. We will perform a similar review in future quarters ended June 30, or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist. Our impair-

ment review process is based on a discounted future cash flow approach that uses our estimates of revenue for the reporting units, driven by assumed

success of our products and product release schedules, and estimated costs as well as appropriate discount rates. These estimates are consistent with the

plans and estimates that we use to manage the underlying businesses. We performed similar impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible assets and found

no impairment.All identifiable intangible assets with finite lives will continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment

under SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”  

The following is a reconciliation of previously reported net income and earnings per share to the amounts adjusted for the exclusion of goodwill amorti-

zation, including $196,000 of goodwill amortization associated with an equity method investment in December 31, 2001.

(In thousands, except per share data)

Reported net income $   36,013 

Add back: Goodwill amortization 404 

Adjusted net income $   36,417 

Basic earnings per share:

Reported net income per share $      1.10 

Effect of Goodwill amortization on net income per share 0.01 

Adjusted basic net income per share $      1.11 

Diluted earnings per share:

Reported net income per share $      1.01 

Effect of Goodwill amortization on net income per share 0.01 

Adjusted diluted net income per share $      1.02 

Long-Lived Assets. We evaluate long-lived assets, including but not limited to licenses, software development, property and equipment and identifiable intan-

gible assets with finite lives, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recov-

erable. Potential impairment of assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to

be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carry-

ing amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Revenue Recognition. Our revenue recognition policies are in compliance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position

(“SOP”) 97-2,“Software Revenue Recognition”, as amended by SOP 98-9,“Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,With Respect to Certain

Transactions”, which provide guidance on generally accepted accounting principles for recognizing revenue on software transactions, and Staff Accounting

Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, which outlines the basic criteria that must be met to recognize revenue and provides

guidance for presentation of revenue and for disclosure related to revenue recognition policies in financial statements filed with the SEC.

Product Sales:We recognize revenue for packaged software when title and risk of loss transfers to the customer, provided that no significant vendor sup-

port obligations remain outstanding and that collection of the resulting receivable is deemed probable by management. Although we generally sell our

products on a no-return basis, in certain circumstances we may allow price protection, returns or other allowances on a negotiated basis. We estimate

such price protection, returns or other allowances based upon management’s evaluation of our historical experience, retailer inventories, the nature of the

titles and other factors. Such estimates are deducted from gross sales (See Note 5). Software is sold under a limited 90-day warranty against defects in

material and workmanship. To date, we have not experienced material warranty claims.



Software Licenses: For those agreements that provide the customers the right to multiple copies in exchange for guaranteed minimum royalty amounts,

revenue is recognized at delivery of the product master or the first copy. Per copy royalties on sales that exceed the guarantee are recognized as earned.

Revenue from the licensing of software was $8.4 million and $4.1 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and Transition 2003, respectively, and

$2.0 million, and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Advertising. Advertising and sales promotion costs are generally expensed as incurred, except for television airtime and print media costs associated with

media campaigns, which are deferred and charged to expense in the period the airtime or advertising space is used for the first time. Advertising costs

were $34.0 million and $4.6 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and Transition 2003, respectively, and $23.4 million, and $14.8 million in the

years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Employee Stock-Based Compensation. We account for our employee stock based compensation plans under the intrinsic value method in accordance

with Accounting Principles Bulletin (APB) Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. No stock option com-

pensation expense, other than acquisition-related compensation, is recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Operations because all stock options

granted had an exercise price equal to the fair value of the underlying common stock on the grant date, except for options issued by Pacific Coast Power

& Light Co. and Genetic Anomolies prior to the acquisitions, which were issued at below market.

On November 13, 2003, we commenced a stock option exchange program (“Exchange Program”) under which eligible employees holding options to 

purchase 1,494,614 shares of our common stock, with a weighted average exercise price of $30.77 per share and a range of $27.49 to $39.11 per share,

could elect to exchange their options for a designated fewer number of replacement options with a new exercise price to be granted at least six months

and one day from the cancellation date. Our executive officers and members of our board of directors were not eligible to participate in the Exchange

Program. In accordance with the terms of the Exchange Program, we canceled 1,216,903 outstanding stock options on December 15, 2003 and expect

to issue, in exchange for the canceled options, approximately 769,000 new options in June 2004.The exercise price of the new stock options will be the

closing price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market on the date the new stock options are granted.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123,“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123), the tables below include a modification of the 1,216,903 stock

options canceled under the Exchange Program and were immediately reissued as approximately 769,000 new options. Accordingly, these disclosures

include estimates about (1) the risk-free interest rate; (2) the expected life of the new stock options; and (3) the expected volatility of our common stock.

The following table shows what our net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and Transition

2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 had we accounted for our stock-based compensation plans under the fair value method of SFAS

123 using the assumptions in the table above. The estimated value of the options is amortized ratably to expense over the options’ vesting periods.

Because the value is determined as of the date of grant, the actual value ultimately realized by the employee may be significantly different.
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Year Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss)-as reported $    35,839 $   (7,686) $   12,994 $   36,013

Add: Stock-based employee

compensation expense included in 

reported net income (loss),

net of related tax effects 54 119 104 182

Deduct: Total stock-based employee

compensation expense determined 

under fair value based method for all 

awards, net of related tax effects (14,890) (4,033) (19,436) (12,269)

Net income (loss)-pro forma $    21,003 $  (11,600) $   (6,338) $  23,926

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic-as reported $       0.94 $      (0.20) $   0.33 $     1.10

Basic-pro forma $      0.55 $      (0.30) $   (0.16 ) $     0.73

Diluted-as reported $     0.92 $      (0.20) $     0.32 $      1.01

Diluted-pro forma $      0.54 $      (0.30) $    (0.16 ) $      0.67

The fair market value of options granted under the stock option plans during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004,Transition 2003 and each of the years

ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model utilizing the following assumptions:

Year Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%

Anticipated volatility 69% 73% 73% 74%

Weighted average risk-free interest rate 2.60% 3.46% 3.46% 4.33%

Expected lives 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years

The estimated fair value of the options granted in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and

2001 was $20.6 million, $3.4 million, $31.3 million and $47.0 million, respectively. We apply APB Opinion No. 25 and related Interpretations in accounting

for stock option plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost for our stock option plans has been recognized in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004,Transition

2003 and the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 except for options issued by PCP&L and GA prior to the acquisitions, which were issued at below

market value.

Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of our assets and 

liabilities, based on enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income

tax assets will not be realized.



Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share. The following table is a reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used in the computation of basic and

diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years presented:

(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) used to compute basic 

and diluted earnings (loss) per share $  35,839 $   (7,686) $  12,994 $   36,013 

Weighted average number of shares 

outstanding — basic 38,186 38,319 39,203 32,717

Dilutive effect of stock options and warrants 818 — 2,040 2,906 

Number of shares used to compute 

earnings (loss)  per share — diluted 39,004 38,319 41,243 35,623 

Stock options to purchase 4,146,000 shares of common stock in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 were outstanding but are not included in the com-

putation of diluted earnings per common share because the option exercise prices for these options were greater than the average market price per share

of our common stock during the period. Stock options to purchase 600,000, 2,462,000 and 724,500 shares of common stock in Transition 2003 and each

of the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, were outstanding but not included in the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per 

common share because the option exercise prices for these options were greater than the average market price per share of our common stock.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements. In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation

of Variable Interest Entities” (revised in December 2003) (“FIN 46-R”).This interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,“Consolidated Financial

Statements,” addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities (“VIEs”) that either: (i) do not have sufficient equity investment

at risk to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or (ii) are owned by equity investors who lack 

an essential characteristic of a controlling financial interest. Generally, application of FIN 46-R is required in financial statements of public entities that 

have interests in structures commonly referred to as special-purpose entities for periods ending after December 15, 2003, and, for other types of VIEs,

for periods ending after March 15, 2004. We have reviewed this pronouncement and determined it is not applicable since we do not own or have an 

investment in any VIEs.

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ratified the consensus reached on paragraphs 6 through 23 of Issue No. 03-01 (“EITF 03-1”), “The Meaning

of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments”. EITF 03-1 requires that certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures

should be required for debt and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity under SFAS No. 115,“Accounting for Certain

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and SFAS No. 124,“Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations” that are impaired

at the balance sheet date but for which an other-than-temporary impairment has not been recognized.We adopted EITF 03-1 in the year ended March 31,

2004; however, it did not have a material impact on the disclosures in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pervasiveness of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results

could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates relate to licenses, software development, and the allowance for price protection, returns

and doubtful accounts.

Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior periods consolidated financial statements to conform to current period consoli-

dated financial statements.
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3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

ValuSoft. On July 1, 2002, we completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of ValuSoft, a publisher and developer of value-priced interactive

entertainment and productivity software. The results of ValuSoft’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date.

This acquisition has provided us with a channel for value-priced personal computer products. We paid $9.6 million in cash and issued approximately

167,000 shares of our common stock valued at $4.6 million as the initial purchase price. In addition, former shareholders of ValuSoft, Inc. are entitled to

additional consideration of up to $11.0 million if ValuSoft reaches certain pre-tax income targets in the five years following July 1, 2002. The annual 

payments of the additional consideration, if any, range from $1.0 million to $2.8 million per year and may be paid, at our discretion, in cash or shares of

our common stock and will be added to goodwill. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2003,ValuSoft reached its pretax target and we paid $2.3 million

in cash and adjusted goodwill accordingly.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method under SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”. The purchase price includes the cash

paid, the fair value of our common stock issued, transaction costs and an adjustment for ValuSoft’s accounts receivable and net book value at July 1, 2002.

The total amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The allocation of the purchase price is as follows:

Estimated Fair Value (in thousands):

Tangible assets acquired $   2,837 

Software development acquired 1,491 

Licenses acquired 1,109 

Liabilities assumed (2,940)

Goodwill 14,342

Purchase price $  16,839 

4. CREDIT FACILITY

We have a credit facility that allows us to maintain outstanding letters of credit up to $20.0 million. The credit facility is secured by a lien on substantially

all of our assets and contains customary financial and non-financial covenants which require us to maintain specified operating profits and liquidity and 

limits our ability to incur additional indebtedness, sell assets, pay cash dividends and enter into certain mergers or acquisitions. As of March 31, 2004, we

were in compliance with all the covenants under the credit facility. Amounts outstanding under the credit facility bear interest, at our choice, at either (a)

the bank’s prime rate (4.0% at March 31, 2004) or (b) the London Interbank Offered Rate (1.4% at March 31, 2004) plus 1.60%. As of March 31, 2004 we

had no amounts outstanding under the credit facility. As of March 31, 2004, we had outstanding letters of credit of approximately $3.1 million.



5. ALLOWANCE FOR PRICE PROTECTION, RETURNS AND DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The allowance for price protection, returns and doubtful accounts at March 31, 2004, and 2003 and December 31, 2002 consists of the following:

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Transition December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Beginning balance $    (43,406) $   (59,919) $    (40,616)

Provision for price protection, returns and doubtful accounts (120,982) (10,046) (69,641)

Actual deductions for price protection, returns and doubtful accounts 111,962 26,559 50,338 

Ending balance $    (52,426) $   (43,406) $    (59,919)

6. GOODWILL

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and Transition 2003 and the year ended December 31, 2002 are

as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, Transition December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Balance at beginning of period $     58,609 $     58,609 $     48,202 

Goodwill acquired during the period — — 12,042 

Adjustments to goodwill during the period (1,510)* — (1,716)

Additional consideration paid for ValuSoft 2,300 — —

Effect of foreign currency exchange rates — — 81

Balance at end of period $     59,399 $      58,609 $     58,609 

* We recorded an adjustment to Goodwill related to acquired net operating losses in Germany that were not recorded at the time of acquisition due to

uncertainties about the realization of the net operating losses. Due to recent clarification in the tax law, we now expect to realize the net operating losses.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets include licenses, software development and other intangible assets. Other intangible assets are included in other long-term assets, net,

except licenses and software development, which are reported separately in the accompanying balance sheets. Intangible assets are as follows:

March 31, 2004 March 31, 2003
Gross Gross

Intangible Assets Useful Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(In Thousands) Lives Amount Amortization Net Amount Amount Amortization Net Amount

Amortized intangible assets

Licenses Varies $ 113,118 $   (90,878) $  22,240 $ 100,065 $  (64,682) $ 35,383

Software development Varies 198,659 (148,864) 49,795 171,335 (113,871) 57,464

Trade secrets 5 years 1,800 (810) 990 1,800 (450) 1,350

Non-compete/ Employment contracts 6.5 years 706 (244) 462 706 (136) 570

Subtotal 2,506 (1,054) 1,452 2,506 (586) 1,920

Total amortized intangible assets 314,283 (240,796) 73,487 273,906 (179,139) 94,767

Unamortized intangible assets

Trade name indefinite 1,025 N/A             1,025 1,025 N/A 1,025

Total $ 315,308 $ (240,796) 74,512 $ 274,931 $ (179,139) $ 95,792

March 31, 2002
Gross

Intangible Assets Useful Carrying Accumulated
(In Thousands) Lives Amount Amortization Net Amount

Amortized intangible assets

Licenses Varies $ 95,299  $   (59,877) $  35,422

Software development Varies 152,263 (104,845) 47,418

Trade secrets 5 years 1,800 (360) 1,440

Non-compete / Employment contracts 6.5 years 706 (109) 597

Subtotal, other 2,506 (469) 2,037

Total amortized intangible assets 250,068 (165,191) 84,877

Unamortized intangible assets

Trade name indefinite 1,025 N/A 1,025

Total $ 251,093 $ (165,191) $  85,902

The useful lives of licenses and software development are based on units of product sold and therefore not disclosed in years. The estimated amortiza-

tion expense for licenses and software development is based on anticipated release dates and forecasts of units to be sold. For the fiscal year ended March

31, 2004 and Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, our aggregate amortization expense related to intangible assets was $126.7

million, $13.3 million, $91.7 million and $35.3 million, respectively.

Estimated Amortization Expense

(In thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended March 31,

2005 $ 53,638    

2006 13,899    

2007 3,136     

2008 1,476      

2009 887      

Thereafter 451     

Total $ 73,487



8. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

On March 21, 2000, we acquired less than a 20% interest in Japanese developer,Yuke’s, which was privately held. In December 2001,Yuke’s had an initial

public offering of its common stock that is traded on the Nippon New Market in Japan. Accordingly, we account for this investment under SFAS No. 115

“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” as available-for-sale. Unrealized holding gains and losses are excluded from earnings

and are included as a component of other comprehensive income until realized. The original cost of this investment was $5.0 million. At March 31, 2003

the investment in Yuke’s was written down to $3.2 million due to an other than temporary decline in the fair value of the investment. For the fiscal year

ended March 31, 2004, the unrealized holding gain was $1.4 million which brings the carrying value of the investment to $4.6 million at March 31, 2004.

Due to the long-term nature of this relationship, this investment is included in other long-term assets in the accompanying balance sheets. For the

Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the unrealized holding gain (loss) on the investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd. was $1.1 

million, ($1.0) million and $249,000, respectively. Under separate development agreements,Yuke’s will create exclusively for us certain World Wrestling

Entertainment wrestling games for the PlayStation 2 and GameCube.

During 2002, we loaned Minick Holding AG (“Minick”) $1.5 million. On January 24, 2003, the loan was converted to an equity investment in Minick. As

of March 31, 2004 we owned approximately 25% of the outstanding common stock of Minick. This investment is accounted for under the equity method.

Equity in net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 was $63,000. In April 2004 we purchased a controlling interest in Minick for an additional

$10.5 million. We will begin consolidating the balance sheet, statement of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows beginning in the June 30, 2004

quarter. Minick develops and operates interactive software applications for wireless devices such as Short Messaging Service (“SMS”), Enhanced Messaging

Service (“EMS”), and Multimedia Messaging Service (“MMS”), information, multimedia and voting applications. We will work with Minick to expand licensed

wireless gaming through their software applications. See Note 17.

On September 4, 2003 THQ Wireless launched Madtap.com, a multi-country portal enabling mobile phone users to download the latest Java games.

The portal is designed to handle multi-country billing options. Madtap.com was created and continues to be supported by Minick. In relation to this agree-

ment,THQ Wireless has paid Minick $33,000 from launch through March 31, 2004.

On June 13, 2001,T.HQ International Ltd. and HotGen Studios Ltd. entered into a Joint Venture Agreement pursuant to which T.HQ International Ltd. acquired

a 44% interest in Network Interactive Sports Limited (“NI Sports”), formerly wholly owned by HotGen Studios Ltd. In exchange for this interest, T.HQ

International Ltd. agreed to invest $3.3 million in cash. Goodwill, which resulted from the investment, net of accumulated amortization was $1.9 million at

December 31, 2001. In July 2002, we announced plans to discontinue operations and took a charge of $3.0 million, including the write-off of associated goodwill

of $1.9 million, in June 2002 for the write-off of this investment, which is included in other expenses in the accompanying statements of operations. Prior to

the write-off, this investment was included in other long-term assets in the accompanying balance sheet and was accounted for using the equity method. For

the year ended December 31, 2001, our equity in the net loss of the joint venture was immaterial and was included in general and administrative expenses 

in the accompanying statements of operations. The financial statements of the joint venture are immaterial and have therefore not been included.
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9. INCOME TAXES

Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of:

Fiscal Year
Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001

United States $    46,115 $ (5,871) $     16,471 $    52,569 

Foreign 9,121 (5,105) 3,284 4,147 

$    55,236 $ (10,976) $     19,755 $    56,716 

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

Fiscal Year
Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001

CURRENT

Federal $      11,112 $ (139) $ 6,742 $      8,000

State 2,716 - 814 434

Foreign 4,495 (1,960) 1,765 1,231

18,323 (2,099) 9,321 9,665
DEFERRED

Federal 2,775 (1,295) (1,940) 9,223

State 319 (125) (194) 1,524

Foreign (2,020) 229 (426) 291

1,074 (1,191) (2,560) 11,038

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $    19,397 $ (3,290) $ 6,761 $   20,703

A reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes at the federal statutory rate to the provision (benefit) recorded in the accompanying financial

statements is as follows:

Fiscal Year
Ended March 31, Transition Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001

Federal provision (benefit) at statutory rate 35.0% (35.0)% 35.0% 35.0%

State taxes (net of Federal benefit) 3.6 (1.1) 2.0 2.2 

Other than temporary impairment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd. — 5.9 — —

Rate differences in foreign taxes and other, net (3.5) —  (2.8 ) (0.7)

35.1% (30.0)% 34.2% 36.5%



Deferred income taxes were:
March 31, 2004

(In thousands) Federal State Foreign

CURRENT

Deferred income tax assets:

Allowance for price protection, returns and doubtful accounts $ 8,697 $     1,242 $         821 

Accrued expenses 1,653 237 — 

State income taxes 687 — — 

Other — net 703 109 (551) 

Total deferred income tax assets 11,740 1,588 270 

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Software development costs (12,291) (1,756) — 

Other — net (169) (24 ) — 

Deferred income taxes $       (720) $         (192) $         270

NON-CURRENT

Deferred income tax assets:

Net operating loss $          — $ 124 $ 1,951

Other — net 2,163 322 —

Valuation reserve (854) (79 ) —

Net deferred tax assets 1,309 367 1,951

Deferred income tax liabilities

Software development costs (768) (110) — 

Depreciation and amortization (397) — — 

Identifiable intangible assets (825) (118) — 

Other — net (743) (106) — 

Deferred income taxes $     (1,424) $         33 $ 1,951

The valuation reserve decreased by $83,000 during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004.

As of March 31, 2004 we had no federal, $2.5 million state and $4.8 million foreign net operating loss carryforwards. The state net operating loss carry-

forward expires in 2013, and the foreign net operating loss carryforward is indefinite.

Total deferred tax assets and total deferred tax liabilities at March 31, 2004 were $17.2 million and $17.3 million, respectively.

At March 31, 2004 we had accumulated foreign earnings of $10.9 million. We do not plan to repatriate these earnings, therefore, no United States income

tax has been provided on the foreign earnings. Additionally, we have not tax effected the cumulative translation adjustment as we have no intention of

repatriating foreign earnings.
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March 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
(In thousands) Federal State Foreign Federal State Foreign

CURRENT

Deferred income tax assets:

Allowance for price protection, returns

and doubtful accounts $     9,756 $          906 $        201 $     12,065 $      1,120 $       430 

Litigation reserve — — — 3,553 330 — 

Accrued expenses 2,814 249 — 106 —

Net operating loss — — — 1,023 3 — 

Credits — — — — 109 — 

Other — net 2,650 246 — 3,126 290 — 

Total deferred income tax assets 15,220 1,401 201 19,873 1,852 430 

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Software development costs (19,089) (1,772) — (16,029) (1,477) — 

Other — net (3,039) (275) — (3,039) (276) — 

Deferred income taxes $ (6,908) $ (646) $ 201 $ 805 $ 99 $ 430 

NON-CURRENT

Deferred income tax assets:

Net operating loss $ 9,046 $ 748 $ —

Credits — 109 —

Other — net 2,197 211 — $ 1,287 $ 123 $ — 

Valuation reserve (930) (86) — (284) (26) —

Net deferred tax assets 10,313 982 — 1,003 97 — 

Deferred income tax liabilities

Software development costs (919) (85) — (622) (69) — 

Depreciation and amortization (417) — — (575) (12) — 

Identifiable intangible assets (825) (77) — (1,276) (80) — 

Other - net (613) (13) — —

Deferred income taxes $        7,539 $ 807 $ — $ (1,470) $ (64) $ — 

The valuation reserve increased by $706,000 and $310,000 during Transition 2003 and the year ended December 31, 2002, respectively.

Total deferred tax assets and total deferred tax liabilities at March 31, 2003 were $28.1 and $27.1, respectively. Total deferred tax assets and total deferred

tax liabilities at December 31, 2002 were $23.2 and $23.5, respectively.



10. EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN

We sponsor for our United States employees a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The plan provides that

employees may defer up to 12% of annual compensation, and that we will make a matching contribution equal to each employee’s deferral, up to 4% of

eligible compensation. We may also contribute funds to the plan in the form of a discretionary profit-sharing contribution. Expenses under the plan were

$1.7 million, $389,000, $1.5 million, and $1.3 million in the fiscal year ended March 2004 and Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and

2001, respectively.

11. STOCK OPTION PLANS

As of March 31, 2004, we have three stock option plans (the 1990 Plan, the 1997 Amended Plan and Non-executive Employee Stock Option Plan 

(the “NEEP Plan”)).

The 1990 Plan and the 1997 Amended Plan provide for the issuance of up to 2,193,750 and 14,537,500 shares, respectively, available for employees,

consultants and non-employee directors.

As of March 31, 2004, no options under the 1990 Plan and 5,793,627 options under the 1997 Plan were available for grant. Stock options granted under

the option plans may be incentive stock options or non-statutory stock options. Options may be granted under the option plans to, in the case of incen-

tive stock options, all employees (including officers) of THQ; or, in the case of non-statutory stock options, all employees (including officers), consultants

and non-employee directors of THQ.

On August 12, 2003, a proposal to amend our 1997 Stock Option Plan to increase the authorized number of shares of common stock available for issuance

to our directors, officers and key employees under such plan from 10,537,500 to 14,537,500 was approved by the shareholders. The purchase price per share

of common stock purchasable upon exercise of each option may not be less than the fair market value of such share of common stock on the date that such

option is granted. Generally, options granted under this plan become exercisable over three years and expire within five years from the date of grant.

The NEEP Plan has primarily the same attributes as the 1990 Plan and the 1997 Plan, but participation is reserved for employees who are not executive

officers and under the NEEP Plan only nonqualified options will be granted. The NEEP Plan provides for the issuance of up to 2,142,000 shares, of which

no more than 20% is available for awards to our non-executive officers and no more than 15% is available for awards to the non-executive officers or 

general managers of our subsidiaries or divisions. As of March 31, 2004, 110,005 options were available for grant.

The exercise price per share of all options granted under the plans in the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002,Transition 2003 and the fiscal year

ended March 31, 2004 has been the closing market price of the stock on the date of the grant.
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Weighted Average Number of 
Stock Options Exercise Price Shares

Balance at January 1, 2001 $ 10.61 5,119,955 

Granted $ 26.01 3,206,811 

Exercised $ 9.43 (1,628,538)

Canceled $ 13.47 (331,016)

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 18.42 6,367,212 

Granted $ 26.54 2,192,639 

Exercised $ 9.58 (545,937)

Canceled $ 24.54 (1,042,064)

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 20.93 6,971,850 

Granted $ 12.40 487,500 

Exercised $ 9.83 (143,148)

Canceled $ 20.46 (442,410)

Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 20.58 6,873,792 

Granted $ 16.10 2,414,425 

Exercised $ 8.59 (781,330) 

Canceled $ 27.05 (2,030,468) 

Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 18.14 6,476,419

Options exercisable at December 31, 2001 $ 11.51 1,759,140 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2002 $ 16.75 3,164,326 

Options exercisable at March 31, 2003 $ 18.03 3,382,098 

Options exercisable at March 31, 2004 $ 18.39 3,260,463 

Options granted and shares exercised relating to options granted outside of our stock option plans during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

transition 2003, and the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 are listed below. Share exercise prices for these options equal the market price of our common

stock at the date of the grant except for options issued by Pacific Coast Power & Light and Genetic Anomalies prior to the acquisitions, which were issued

at below market value. These options were accounted for under APB Opinion No. 25 and we have recognized stock compensation of $84,000, $189,000,

$169,000, and $299,000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, Transition 2003 and for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Generally, options granted outside of our stock option plans become exercisable over three years and expire within five years from the date of grant.



Weighted Average Number of 
Stock Options Exercise Price Shares

Balance at January 1, 2001 $ 4.07 1,071,755 

Granted $ 13.78 159,398 

Exercised $ 3.17 (436,737)

Canceled $ 0.57 (932)

Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 6.53 793,484 

Granted $ — — 

Exercised $ 6.95 (386,297)

Canceled $ 11.00 (8,554)

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 6.05 398,633

Granted $ — — 

Exercised $ 0.57 (1,263)

Canceled $ 0.62 (166)

Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 6.07 397,204 

Granted $ — — 

Exercised $ 4.72 (86,860)

Canceled $ 20.52 (1,918)

Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 6.29 308,426

Options exercisable at December 31, 2001 $ 6.83 755,777 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2002 $ 6.06 397,492 

Options exercisable at March 31, 2003 $ 6.07 397,204 

Options exercisable at March 31, 2004 $ 6.29 308,426 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at March 31, 2004:

Weighted Weighted
Number Average Average

Range of Outstanding at Remaining Exercise 
Exercise Price March 31, 2004 Contractual Life Price

$  0.25 - $10.25 758,413 2 $ 6.96 

$10.67 - $16.70 2,130,762 3 $ 13.65 

$16.82 - $22.08 2,627,089 3 $ 18.35 

$22.30 - $30.04 1,175,544 3 $ 28.65 

$30.93 - $38.53 93,037 3 $ 34.35 

6,784,845 3 $ 17.60 

The following table summarizes information about stock options exercisable at March 31, 2004:

Weighted
Shares Average

Range of Exercisable at Exercise 
Exercise Price March 31, 2004 Price

$  0.25 - $10.25 758,413 $ 6.96

$10.67 - $16.70 932,393 $ 13.58 

$16.82 - $22.08 1,009,201 $ 18.43 

$22.30 - $30.04 788,260 $ 28.64 

$30.93 - $38.53 80,622 $ 34.35 

3,568,889 $ 17.34 
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12. CAPITAL STOCK TRANSACTIONS

On September 10, 2002, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $25.0 million of our common stock from time to

time on the open market or in private transactions. On November 21, 2002, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up

to an additional  $25.0 million of our common stock from time to time on the open market or in private transactions. On February 5, 2004, we announced

that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional $25.0 million bringing the total authorized to $75.0 million. As of March 31, 2004,

we have repurchased 2,949,000 shares of our common stock for $43.8 million leaving $31.2 million available for future repurchases.

In connection with a licensing agreement, in September 2003, we issued a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at $15.68 per share 

having an estimated fair value of $1.0 million. The estimated fair value was determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following

assumptions: an anticipated volatility of 71%, a weighted average risk-free interest rate of 3.43%, and a term of 10 years. The fair value of the warrant is

included in licenses in the accompanying balance sheet. The warrant expires December 31, 2013. As of March 31, 2004, these warrants have not been

exercised and are all outstanding.

On July 1, 2002 we issued approximately 167,000 shares of common stock as part of the purchase price of ValuSoft.

In connection with obtaining a license agreement, in February 2002, we issued a warrant to purchase 75,000 shares of common stock at $29.13 per 

share having a fair value of $1.2 million at the time of issuance. The estimated fair value was determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model.

The estimated fair value was determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: an anticipated volatility of 71%, a

weighted average risk-free interest rate of 4.38%, and a term of 4 years. The fair value of the warrants is included in licenses in the accompanying balance

sheet. The warrants expire December 31, 2005. As of March 31, 2004, these warrants have not been exercised and are all outstanding.

On November 13, 2001, we issued 4,125,000 shares of our common stock in a secondary public offering. As part of the offering, on December 12, 2001,

the underwriters exercised their right to purchase an additional 471,222 shares. The net proceeds from these issuances were $154.6 million.

13. AGREEMENT WITH JAKKS PACIFIC, INC.

In June 1999 we entered into an agreement with JAKKS Pacific, Inc. (“JAKKS”), that governs our relationship with respect to the World Wrestling

Entertainment license we jointly obtained from World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. (the “WWE”). This agreement with JAKKS was amended in January

2002. Our relationship with JAKKS was established to develop, manufacture, distribute, market and sell video games, pursuant to the license from the

WWE. The principal terms of this operating agreement are as follows:

We are responsible for funding all operations of the venture, including all payments owed to the WWE.

For the period commencing November 16, 1999 and ending June 30, 2006, JAKKS is entitled to receive a preferred payment equal to the greater of a fixed

guarantee, payable quarterly, or specified percentages of the net sales from the WWE-licensed games (as defined) in amounts that vary based on the platform.

The payment of these amounts is guaranteed by us. We are entitled to the profits and cash distributions remaining after the payment of these amounts.

For periods after June 30, 2006, the amount of the preferred payment will be subject to renegotiation between the parties. An arbitration procedure is

specified in the event the parties do not reach agreement.

We are responsible for the day-to-day operations of the venture. We are responsible for development, sales and distribution of the WWE-licensed games,

and JAKKS is responsible for the approval process and other relationship matters with the WWE.

For financial reporting purposes, we are deemed to control the venture; therefore, all venture operating results are consolidated with our results.

In November 2001, through the venture with JAKKS, we entered into an amendment to expand the WWE license to include exclusive rights to other

wrestling content produced by the WWE. In exchange for these rights we have agreed to increase the minimum guarantee payable to WWE through

December 31, 2013.



14. STOCKHOLDERS RIGHTS PLAN

On August 15, 2001, the Board of Directors (the Board) approved an amended and restated Stockholders Rights Plan (the Plan). Each share of common

stock has one preferred stock purchase right (“Right”) associated with it. Pursuant to the Plan, each Right entitles the holder to buy one one-thousandth

(1/1000) of a share of a new series of preferred stock at an exercise price of $10, subject to adjustment. The Rights become exercisable 10 days after any

person or group acquires, or 10 business days after any person or group has announced its intention to commence a tender offer for, 15% or more of the

outstanding common stock.

In the event that any person or group acquires 15% or more of our outstanding common stock, each holder of a Right (other than such person or group)

will be entitled to purchase, at the exercise price, the number of shares of common stock having a current market value equal to two times the exercise

price of the Right.

If we are acquired in a merger or other business combination, each holder of a Right will be entitled to purchase, at the exercise price, a number of shares

of common stock of the acquirer having a current market value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right.

We may redeem the Rights at a redemption price of $.001 per right at any time until 10 days after the acquisition of 15% of our common stock. At any

time after a person or group has acquired 15% or more but less than 50% of our common stock, we may exchange all or part of the Rights for shares of

common stock at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock for each Right or 1/1000 of such new series of preferred stock per Right, subject to

adjustment. The rights expire on June 21, 2010.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Licenses and Software Development. We enter into contractual arrangements with third parties for the rights to intellectual property and for the 

development of products. Under these agreements, we commit to provide specified payments to an intellectual property holder or developer. Assuming all 

contractual provisions are met, the total future minimum contract commitment for contracts in place as of March 31, 2004 is approximately $113.8 million.

Advertising. We have certain minimum advertising commitments under most of our major license agreements. These minimum commitments generally range

from 2% to 12% of net sales related to the respective license. We estimate that our minimum commitment for advertising in fiscal 2005 will be $24.1 million.

Leases. We are committed under operating leases with lease termination dates to 2014. Certain leases contain rent escalations. Minimum future rent

payments pursuant to these leases as of March 31, 2004 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
(In thousands) Facilities Equipment

2005 $ 4,395 $ 556 

2006 4,422 329 

2007 3,157 206 

2008 3,223 37 

2009 2,866 15 

Thereafter 8,307 — 

$      26,370 $ 1,143 

Rent expense was $4.5 million, $1.1 million, $3.4 million and $2.7 million for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2004,Transition 2003 and the years ended

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Summary of minimum contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of March 31, 2004 (in thousands), are as follows:

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Software
Development

License Milestone Letters of
Fiscal Years Ended March 31, Guarantees Payments Advertising Leases Credit Other Total

2005 $ 26,333 $ 59,408 $ 24,143 $ 4,951 $ 3,125 $ 1,583 $ 119,543

2006 22,843 701 10,203 4,751 — — 38,498

2007 4,520 — 2,856 3,363 — — 10,739 

2008 — — 2,105 3,260 — — 5,365 

2009 — — 500 2,881 — — 3,381 

Thereafter — — 1,500 8,307 — — 9,807 

$ 53,696 $ 60,109 $ 41,307 $ 27,513 $ 3,125 $ 1,583 $ 187,333 

On February 27, 2003, we entered into a lease agreement with an entity partially owned by the head of one of our development studios. The lease is for

approximately 29,000 square feet of office space which will be occupied by the development studio in Champaign, Illinois.

Warrants. We are committed under a license agreement to issue a warrant to purchase a total of approximately 250,000 shares of common stock. At this

time, the warrant terms related to this agreement are being negotiated. We have estimated the fair value of this warrant based on current negotiations as

we have shipped product related to this license agreement.The estimated fair value is being amortized to license amortization and royalties over estimated

sales for games that have been released.We will adjust our estimated fair value and the related amortization when the warrant terms are finalized.

Manufacturer Indemnification. We must indemnify the manufacturers of our games with respect to all loss, liability and expense resulting from any claim

against the manufacturer involving the development, marketing, sale or use of our games, including any claims for copyright or trademark infringement

brought against the manufacturer. As a result, we bear a risk that the properties upon which the titles are based, or that the information and technology

licensed from others and incorporated in the products, may infringe the rights of third parties. Our agreements with our independent software developers

and property licensors typically provide for us to be indemnified with respect to certain matters. If any claim is brought by a manufacturer against us for

indemnification, however, our developers or licensors may not have sufficient resources to in turn, indemnify us. Furthermore, parties’ indemnification of

us may not cover the matter that gives rise to the manufacturer’s claim.

We received a demand from Motorola for indemnification under our license to it of certain wireless games distributed in France. The demand arises out

of litigation commenced in France in January 2003 against Motorola and their distribution partners for trademark infringement and unfair competition,

which seeks $10.0 million in damages plus an unspecified amount and an accounting. In April 2003, we joined the action as a necessary party. Although

we expect to prevail, at this early stage we cannot predict the likely outcome of the demand for indemnification.

Legal and Regulatory Proceedings. On July 11, 2003 we were informed by the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) that the SEC

is conducting a non-public formal investigation entitled “In the Matter of Certain Video Game Manufacturers and Distributors.” In connection with 

the investigation, the SEC requested information from us. The SEC staff has informed us that other companies in the video game industry have received

similar requests for information. The investigation appears to be focused on certain accounting practices, with specific emphasis on revenue recognition.

The SEC has advised us that its investigation is non-public and should not be construed as an indication from the SEC or its staff that any violations of the

law have occurred, nor should it reflect negatively upon any person, entity or security. We responded to the SEC’s request for information in September

2003 and intend to cooperate fully with any further requests from the SEC in its investigation.

We are involved in routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business. In the opinion of our management, none of the pending litigation will

have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.



16. FISCAL YEAR CHANGE

Effective January 1, 2003, we changed our fiscal year from December 31 to March 31. The table below summarizes the selected data for the three months

ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 (unaudited), respectively, (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended March 31,
2003 2002

(unaudited)

Net sales $ 66,800 $ 79,682

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 26,378 33,680

License amortization and royalties 5,576 7,064

Software development amortization 12,018 10,800

Product development 8,899 7,064

Selling and marketing 14,294 9,759

Payment to venture partner 644 1,572

General and administrative 8,442 6,641

Total costs and expenses 76,251 76,580

Income (loss) from operations (9,451) 3,102

Interest income, net 878 1,322

Other income (expenses) (2,403) —
Income (loss) before income taxes (10,976) 4,424

Income taxes (3,290) 1,659

Net income (loss) $ (7,686) $ 2,765

Net income (loss) per share – diluted $ (0.20 ) $ .07

Shares used in per share calculation – diluted 38,319 41,725

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In April 2004, we completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of Relic Entertainment Inc., a development studio located in Canada. We paid

$6.0 million in cash and will pay an additional $4 million over the next two years.

Additionally, in April 2004 we purchased a controlling interest in Minick Holding AG (“Minick”) for $10.5 million. Minick is a European-based company

which develops and operates interactive software applications for wireless devices such as SMS, EMS, and MMS messaging information, multimedia and 

voting applications. See Note 8.
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18. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We operate in one reportable segment in which we are a developer, publisher and distributor of interactive entertainment software for the leading 

hardware platforms in the home video game market. The following information sets forth geographic information on our sales and long-lived assets for

the fiscal year ended March 2004,Transition 2003 and the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001:

North United Asia
(In thousands of dollars) America Kingdom Germany France Pacific Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2001:

Sales to unaffiliated Customers $ 262,676 $ 60,240 $ 25,517 $ 18,185 $ 12,374 $ 378,992

Long-lived assets at December 31, 2001 $ 80,289 $ 3,541 $ 2,370 $ 267 $ 196 $ 86,663

Year ended December 31, 2002:

Sales to unaffiliated Customers $ 358,124 $ 67,218 $ 26,051 $ 14,556 $ 14,580 $ 480,529

Long-lived assets at December 31, 2002 $ 101,105 $ 759 $ 2,721 $ 356 $ 244 $ 105,185

Transition 2003:

Sales to unaffiliated Customers $ 56,649 $ 4,361 $ 2,802 $ 1,259 $ 1,729 $ 66,800

Long-lived assets at March 31, 2003 $ 109,779 $ 2,323 $ 1,236 $ 392 $ 307 $ 114,037

Fiscal Year ended March 31, 2004:

Sales to unaffiliated Customers $ 453,426 $ 88,325 $ 44,571 $ 28,961 $ 25,563 $ 640,846

Long-lived assets at March 31, 2004 $ 125,128 $ 2,749 $ 1,211 $ 556 $ 457 $ 130,101



19. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Twelve Months Ended March 31, 2004

Quarters Ended
June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31,

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2003 2003 2003 2004

Revenues $ 98,095 $ 126,517 $ 293,099 $ 123,135

Expenses and Other 103,742 120,816 245,642 115,410

Income (loss) before income taxes (5,647) 5,701 47,457 7,725

Income taxes (2,090) 2,109 17,084 2,294

Net income (loss) $ (3,557) $ 3,592 $ 30,373 $ 5,431

Net income (loss) per share

Basic $ (0.09) $ 0.09 $ 0.80 $ 0.14

Diluted $ (0.09) $ 0.09 $ 0.78 $ 0.14

Three Months Ended March 31, 2002 and Twelve Months Ended March 31, 2003

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31,
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2002 2002 2002 2003

Revenues $ 79,682 $ 85,762 $ 97,335 $ 217,750 $ 66,800

Expenses and Other 75,258 80,893 89,895 214,728 77,776

Income (loss) before income taxes 4,424 4,869 7,440 3,022 (10,976)

Income taxes 1,659 2,578 2,636 (112) (3,290)

Net income (loss) $ 2,765 $ 2,291 $ 4,804 $ 3,134 $ (7,686)

Net income (loss) per share

Basic $ 0.07 $ 0.06 $ 0.12 $ 0.08 $ (0.20)

Diluted $ 0.07 $ 0.05 $ 0.12 $ 0.08 $ (0.20)

Due to rounding some of the figures above may differ slightly from the 10-Q’s previously filed.

For the quarter ended June 30, 2002, net income included a non-cash charge of $3.0 million for the discontinuation of the NIS online joint venture.

For the quarter ended December 31, 2002, net income includes a charge of $7.9 million, net of tax for the cancellation of 20 SKUs as well as a charge of

$4.6 million, net of tax related to the settlement of a class action lawsuit and a charge of $1.1 million, net of tax related to the write-off of inventory and

software development for “WWF”-branded games that we have been prevented from shipping pursuant to an action by the World Wide Fund for Nature

against World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.

For the quarter ended March 31, 2003, net loss includes a charge of $1.8 million due to the other than temporary impairment of our investment in Yuke’s Co., Ltd.

For the quarter ended September 30, 2003, net income included a $4.0 million benefit for a settlement of a dispute with our directors’ and officers’ 

insurance carrier related to a previous securities litigation settlement.
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TRADEMARK & COPYRIGHT INFORMATION

© 2004 THQ Inc. THQ, Volition, Inc., Heavy Iron Studios, Rainbow Studios, Destroy All Humans!, THQ Wireless and/or their respective logos are trade-

marks and/or registered trademarks of THQ Inc. Relic and Relic Entertainment are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Relic Entertainment Inc.

All other trademarks, copyrights and logos are property of their respective owners. All Rights Reserved. “PlayStation” and the “PS” family logo are registered

trademarks of Sony Computer Entertainment Inc. Nintendo, Game Boy Advance, GameCube and the official seal are trademarks of Nintendo. Microsoft,

Xbox and the Xbox logo are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries and are

used under license from Microsoft. Tak and the Power of Juju™ © 2003 Avalanche Software LLC and Tak 2:The Staff of Dreams © 2004 Avalanche Software

LLC. Exclusively published and licensed by THQ Inc. The names of all World Wrestling Entertainment televised and live programming, talent names, images,

likenesses, slogans and wrestling moves and all World Wrestling Entertainment logos are trademarks which are the exclusive property of World Wrestling

Entertainment, Inc. © 2004 World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Used under exclusive license by THQ/JAKKS Pacific, LLC. Disney/Pixar

Finding Nemo. © Disney/Pixar. Licensed by THQ Inc. The Incredibles  © Disney/Pixar. Full Spectrum Warrior™ © 2004 Pandemic Studios, LLC. All Rights

Reserved. Pandemic®, Full Spectrum Warrior, and their respective logos  are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Pandemic Studios, LLC and are

reproduced under license only. Exclusively licensed by THQ Inc. Tak and the Power of Juju,Tak 2:The Staff of Dreams, Nickelodeon, Nicktoons, Nick Online,

SpongeBob SquarePants™,The Fairly OddParents, Jimmy Neutron and all related titles, logos and characters are trademarks of Viacom International Inc.

Used under exclusive license. © 2004 Viacom International Inc. All rights reserved. S.T.A.L.K.E.R. Shadow of Chernobyl  © 2003 Transavision Ltd.

Exclusively published and distributed by THQ Inc. The Punisher — MARVEL, The Punisher and the distinctive likeness(es) thereof are trademarks of 

Marvel Characters, Inc., and are used with permission. Copyright © 2004 Marvel Characters, Inc. All Rights Reserved. www.marvel.com. The Punisher is 

produced under license from Marvel Characters. Inc. Warhammer® 40,000: Dawn of War™ — © copyright Games Workshop Ltd 2004.All Rights Reserved.

Dawn of War, the Dawn of War logo, the GWI logo, Games Workshop, the Games Workshop logo, Space Marine, Space Marine chapter logos,Warhammer,

Warhammer 40k Device and all associated races, race insignia, marks, names, characters, illustrations and images from the Dawn of War game and the

Warhammer 40,000 universe are either ®,TM and/or © Games Workshop Ltd 2000-2004, variably registered in the UK and other countries around the

world, used under license. All Rights Reserved. Sonic Advance — Sega is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Sega, the Sega logo, and Sonic

Advance are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Sega Corporation or its affiliates. Original Game © SEGA © SONICTEAM/SEGA, 2004.

All rights reserved. Licensed by THQ Inc. Scooby-Doo Mystery Mayhem– SCOOBY-DOO and all related characters and elements are trademarks of 

and © Hanna-Barbera. WBIE LOGO,WB SHIELD: ™ & © Warner Bros. Entertainment Inc. Used under exclusive license by THQ Inc. POLAR Express,

characters, names and all related indicia are trademarks and © Warner Bros. Hello Kitty – © 1976, 2004 SANRIO CO., LTD. Used under license by 

THQ Wireless Inc. All Rights Reserved. NHL —  NHL, and the NHL Shield are registered trademarks of the National Hockey League. NHL and NHL

team marks are the property of the NHL and its teams. © NHL 2004.All Rights Reserved. Licensed by THQ Wireless, Inc. MotoGP™ 2 and © 2003 Dorna

Sports, S.L. MotoGP and related logos, characters, names, and distinctive likenesses thereof are the exclusive property of Dorna Sports, S.L. and/or their

respective owners. Unreleased videogames are tentative and subject to change without notice.



SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brian J. Farrell
President and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Eric Doctorow
Chief Operating Officer

Jack D. Sorensen
Executive Vice President,Worldwide Studios

Edward K. Zinser
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Peter H. Dille
Senior Vice President,Worldwide Marketing

Bill W. Goodmen
Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Administration

James M. Kennedy
Senior Vice President, Business and Legal Affairs and 
Corporate Secretary

Tiffany E.Ternan
Senior Vice President, North American Sales and Distribution

Tim F. Walsh
President,THQ Wireless

CORPORATE OFFICE

THQ Inc.
27001 Agoura Road, Suite 325
Calabasas Hills, California 91301
Tel: 818-871-5000
Fax: 818-871-7400
Web: www.thq.com

CORPORATE COUNSEL

Sidley Austin Brown & Wood LLP
Los Angeles, California

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Los Angeles, California

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Computershare Investor Services, LLC
2 North LaSalle Street
Chicago, Illinois 60602

COMMON STOCK

NASDAQ National Market
Symbol:THQI

DIRECTORS:

Brian J. Farrell
President and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board of Directors
THQ Inc.

L. Gregory Ballard
Chief Executive Officer
Sorrent Inc.
a publisher of entertainment titles 
for mobile phones

Lawrence Burstein
President
Unity Venture Capital Associates Ltd.
a private investment company

Henry T. DeNero
Independent Management Consultant
Advisor - Venture Capital Firms

Brian Dougherty
Chief Executive Officer
Airena, Inc.
a software development company

James L.Whims
Managing Director of TechFund Capital I L.P.,
TechFund Capital II, L.P., and
TechFund Capital Europe
venture capital firms

FORM 10-K

A copy of the Company’s
annual report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004
is available on THQ’s website: www.thq.com.
The report will also be furnished upon 
request directed to:

Julie MacMedan
Director of Investor Relations
THQ Inc.
Tel: 818-871-5095
Email: investor@thq.com

ANNUAL MEETING

August 6, 2004 at 9:00 am
The Hyatt Westlake Plaza
Grand Plaza Ballroom
880 S.Westlake Boulevard
Westlake Village, CA 91361

D
es

ig
n:

M
cN

ul
ty

 &
 C

o
m

pa
ny

  
 w

w
w

.m
cn

ul
ty

co
.c

o
m



SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brian J. Farrell
President and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Eric Doctorow
Chief Operating Officer

Jack D. Sorensen
Executive Vice President,Worldwide Studios

Edward K. Zinser
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Peter H. Dille
Senior Vice President,Worldwide Marketing

Bill W. Goodmen
Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Administration

James M. Kennedy
Senior Vice President, Business and Legal Affairs and 
Corporate Secretary

Tiffany E.Ternan
Senior Vice President, North American Sales and Distribution

Tim F. Walsh
President,THQ Wireless

CORPORATE OFFICE

THQ Inc.
27001 Agoura Road, Suite 325
Calabasas Hills, California 91301
Tel: 818-871-5000
Fax: 818-871-7400
Web: www.thq.com

CORPORATE COUNSEL

Sidley Austin Brown & Wood LLP
Los Angeles, California

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Los Angeles, California

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Computershare Investor Services, LLC
2 North LaSalle Street
Chicago, Illinois 60602

COMMON STOCK

NASDAQ National Market
Symbol:THQI

DIRECTORS:

Brian J. Farrell
President and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board of Directors
THQ Inc.

L. Gregory Ballard
Chief Executive Officer
Sorrent Inc.
a publisher of entertainment titles 
for mobile phones

Lawrence Burstein
President
Unity Venture Capital Associates Ltd.
a private investment company

Henry T. DeNero
Independent Management Consultant
Advisor - Venture Capital Firms

Brian Dougherty
Chief Executive Officer
Airena, Inc.
a software development company

James L.Whims
Managing Director of TechFund Capital I L.P.,
TechFund Capital II, L.P., and
TechFund Capital Europe
venture capital firms

FORM 10-K

A copy of the Company’s
annual report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004
is available on THQ’s website: www.thq.com.
The report will also be furnished upon 
request directed to:

Julie MacMedan
Director of Investor Relations
THQ Inc.
Tel: 818-871-5095
Email: investor@thq.com

ANNUAL MEETING

August 6, 2004 at 9:00 am
The Hyatt Westlake Plaza
Grand Plaza Ballroom
880 S.Westlake Boulevard
Westlake Village, CA 91361

D
es

ig
n:

M
cN

ul
ty

 &
 C

o
m

pa
ny

  
 w

w
w

.m
cn

ul
ty

co
.c

o
m



THQ Inc.
27001 Agoura Road, Suite 325, Calabasas Hills, CA  91301

www.thq.com


